THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Process development for platform chemical production from agricultural and forestry residues

DAVID BENJAMIN NICKEL



Department of Biology and Biological Engineering CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2021 Process development for platform chemical production from agricultural and forestry residues

DAVID BENJAMIN NICKEL

978-91-7905-424-3 © David Benjamin Nickel, 2021

Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers tekniska högskola Ny serie nr 4891 ISSN 0346-718X

Division of Industrial Biotechnology Department of Biology and Biological Engineering Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg Sweden Telephone: + 46 (0) 31 772 10 00

Cover: Illustration of a typical biorefinery system from feedstock production to the main product leaving the biorefinery

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice, Gothenburg, Sweden 2021

"The best way of predicting the future is shaping it." Willy Brandt

Process development for platform chemical production from agricultural and forestry residues

DAVID BENJAMIN NICKEL

Division of Industrial Biotechnology Department of Biology and Biological Engineering Chalmers University of Technology

ABSTRACT

As part of a bio-based economy, biorefineries are envisaged to sustainably produce platform chemicals via biochemical conversion of agricultural and forestry residues. However, supply risks, the recalcitrance of lignocellulosic biomass, and inhibitor formation during pre-treatment impair the economic feasibility of such biorefineries. In this thesis, process design and assessment were developed with the aim of addressing these hurdles and improving the cost-effectiveness of lignocellulose-derived platform chemicals.

To expand the feedstock base and reduce operational costs, logging residues served as underutilised and inexpensive raw material. The major impediment in converting logging residues was their high recalcitrance and low cellulose content, which resulted in low attainable ethanol titres during simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation (SSCF). Pretreatment optimisation reduced inhibitor formation and recalcitrance, and led to enzymatic hydrolysis yields at par with those obtained for stem wood, despite the less favourable chemical composition. Upgrading logging residues with carbohydrate-rich oat hulls increased ethanol titres to >50 g·L⁻¹ using batch SSCF at 20% WIS loadings, demonstrating the potential to further decrease downstream processing costs.

To alleviate the toxicity of inhibitors generated during pretreatment, preadaptation was applied to *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Exposure to the inhibitors in the pretreated liquid fraction improved ethanol production during subsequent fermentation. Transferring the concept of preadaptation to lactic acid production by *Bacillus coagulans* cut the process times by half and more than doubled the average specific lactic acid productivity, showcasing how preadaptation could decrease operational costs.

To assess the performance and robustness of process designs against process input variations, a multi-scale variability analysis framework was developed. The framework included models for bioprocess, flowsheet, techno-economic, and life cycle assessment. In a case study, multi-feed processes, in which solids and cells are fed to the process using model-based predictions, were more robust against variable cellulolytic activities than batch SSCFs in a wheat straw-based ethanol biorefinery. The developed framework can be used to identify robust biorefinery process designs, which simultaneously meet technological, economic, and environmental goals.

Keywords: Biorefinery, lignocellulose, logging residues, pretreatment, multi-feed SSCF, preadaptation, multi-scale variability analysis, mixed feedstocks, ethanol, lactic acid platform chemicals

This doctoral thesis partly fulfils the requirements for a PhD degree at the Department of Biology and Biological Engineering, Division of Industrial Biotechnology, Chalmers University of Technology, Sweden. The work presented in this thesis was performed between 2016 and 2021 and was funded by the Swedish Energy Agency under the application title "Bioethanol from spruce and oat shells via High Gravity Multi-Feed SSF" (Grant no. 41272-1) as a collaborative project between the Division of Industrial Biotechnology, Chalmers University of Technology, RISE Processum AB, Örnsköldsvik, Sweden, and RISE Research Institutes of Sweden, Department of Energy and Resources, Division of Built Environment, Gothenburg, Sweden. The work on multi-scale variability analysis also involved collaboration with the Department of Technology Management and Economics, Division of Environmental Systems Analysis, Chalmers University of Technology, and was funded by the Chalmers Area of Advance Energy.

The main part of the work was carried out at the Division of Industrial Biotechnology at Chalmers University of Technology under the supervision of Ass. Prof. Carl Johan Franzén, Dr. Rickard Fornell, and Dr. Fábio Luis Da Silva Faria Oliveira. Pretreatment of raw materials was performed by Dr. Emma Johansson, Carolina Jogner, Dr. Andreas Hörnberg and Dr. Björn Alriksson at RISE Processum AB, Örnsköldsvik, Sweden. Techno-economic analysis for the multi-scale model was performed by Dr. Rickard Fornell, RISE Research Institutes of Sweden, Department of Energy and Resources, Division of Built Environment, Gothenburg, Sweden. Life cycle assessment for the multi-scale model was performed by Dr. Matty Janssen, Chalmers University of Technology, Department of Technology Management and Economics, Division of Environmental Systems Analysis, Gothenburg, Sweden.

> David Benjamin Nickel January, 2021

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I **Nickel D. B.**, Nielsen F., Franzén C J. (2021). Response surface modelling identifies dilute acid-catalysed steam pretreatment conditions with high sugar yields and minimal inhibitor formation for spruce logging residues. *Submitted manuscript*
- II Nickel D. B., Nielsen F., Franzén C. J. (2021). Upgrading low-value logging residues with oat hulls in integrated ethanol production: Effects on the design of batch and model-based multi-feed SSCFs. *Manuscript*
- III Aulitto M., Fusco S., Nickel D. B., Bartolucci S., Contursi P., Franzén C. J. (2019). Seed culture pre-adaptation of *Bacillus coagulans* MA-13 improves lactic acid production in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 12(1), 45. DOI: 10.1186/s13068-019-1382-2
- IV Nickel D. B., Fornell R., Janssen M., Franzén C. J. (2020). Multi-scale variability analysis of wheat straw-based ethanol biorefineries identifies bioprocess designs robust against process input variations. *Frontiers in Energy Research*, 8, 55.
 DOI: 10.3389/fenrg.2020.00055

Reprints were made under the Creative Commons 4.0 CC-BY license.

- **Paper I:** First author. I designed the study, planned and performed the experiments, analysed, and interpreted the results, and wrote the manuscript.
- **Paper II:** First author (shared). I contributed in conceiving and designing the study, planned and performed most of the experiments, analysed and interpreted the results, and wrote the manuscript together with my co-authors.
- **Paper III:** Third author. I participated in designing and performing the fermentation experiments and subsequent analytics. Together with my co-authors, I analysed the data, interpreted the results, drafted and critically commented on the manuscript.
- **Paper IV:** First author. I initiated and designed the study, evaluated published data, evaluated the bioprocess model, programmed the interface for technoeconomic analysis, and collected the data from all system scales. I analysed and interpreted the results with my co-authors and wrote the manuscript.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 The concept of biorefineries	2
1.3 Aim and scope	4
2. Lignocellulosic feedstocks for biorefineries	7
2.1 Lignocellulose and its characteristics	9
2.1.1 Cellulose	9
2.1.2 Hemicellulose	9
2.1.3 Lignin	.10
2.1.4 Pectin, extractives, and inorganic compounds	.10
2.2 Selection of feedstocks for biorefineries	.11
2.3 Residual biomass for biorefinery applications	.12
3. Biomass pretreatment	17
3.1 Steam pretreatment	.18
3.1.1 Mechanism	.19
3.1.2 Optimisation	.20
3.1.3 Lignocellulose-derived inhibitors	.25
4 Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation	31
4.1 Enzymatic hydrolysis	.31
4.2 Fermentation in lignocellulosic medium	.34
4.3 Process configurations for efficient enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation	.38
4.4 Effect of mixed feedstocks on enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation	.42
5 Assessment of process designs for lignocellulose-based biorefineries	47
5.1 Modelling of simultaneous saccharification and fermentation: From hydrolysis modelling	5
to life cycle assessment	.47
5.2 Multi-scale models as tools for consistent biorefinery assessment across system scales	.51
6 Conclusions and outlook	55
6.1 Conclusions	.55
6.2 Outlook	.57
Acknowledgements	59
References	61

Abbreviations

3-НР	3-Hydroxypropionic acid
5-HMF	5-Hydroxymethylfurfural
СВН	Cellobiohydrolase
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
DoE	Design of Experiments
FDCA	2,5-Furandicarboxylic acid
LCA	Life cycle assessment
RSM	Response surface model
SHCF	Separate hydrolysis and co-fermentation
SHF	Separate hydrolysis and fermentation
SSCF	Simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation
SSF	Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation
TEA	Techno-economic analysis
WIS	Water-insoluble solids
XDH	Xylitol dehydrogenase
XR	Xylose reductase

1. Introduction

The effect of climate change, hastened by the unsustainable use of fossil resources, calls for a paradigm shift from a linear towards a circular economy. A combination of bio-based and circular economy is envisaged to mitigate climate change by reducing and reutilising waste streams, as well as by supporting a more sustainable production of energy, fuels, and chemicals from renewable resources. The work presented in this thesis contributes to the shift by developing processes to sustainably produce platform chemicals from agricultural and forestry biomass.

1.1 Background

Today's society relies heavily on fossil resources, such as crude oil, natural gas, peat, and coal. They are utilised to generate heat and electricity, transport fuels, and building blocks for petrochemical production of olefins, aromatics, and thermoplastics (Levi & Cullen, 2018). Due to expected demographic (United Nations, 2019) and economic growth (Christensen et al., 2018), global energy demand is predicted to soar (British Petroleum, 2019). As a result, the demand for fossil resources will rise. The increase will be mainly driven by petrochemical industry (International Energy Agency, 2018). However, the burning of fossil resources releases sequestered carbon from its geological reservoirs into the atmosphere and terrestrial biosphere in the form of climate-active gases, such as carbon dioxide (CO_2) and methane. Increased emissions of these gases have resulted in anthropogenic climate change, with multiple negative environmental impacts at local (Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016; Williams et al., 2019) and global scale (Hansen & Stone, 2016; Rosenzweig et al., 2008). The increase in average global temperatures and the occurrence of droughts have already sounded the alarm bell. In a panoply of international agreements spearheaded by the Paris Agreement (United Nations FCCC, 2015) and followed by other conferences (United Nations FCCC, 2017), most countries have agreed to implement political measures to mitigate climate change and limit the increase in average global temperature to 2 °C compared to pre-industrial levels of 1850–1900. The European Union, for example, aims to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions by at least 40% until 2030 and by 80% until 2050, compared to 1990 levels (European Commission, 2018). To reach these objectives, policies need to be implemented to decarbonise industries, increase the efficiency of energy transformation processes, implement a circular economy based on recycling resources, and find renewable, environmentally friendly alternatives to fossil resources.

Renewable resources, such as plant and algal biomass, will play an important role in this industrial and economic transformation process. As part of terrestrial and marine biological carbon cycles, plants and algae assimilate atmospheric CO_2 into carbohydrates via photosynthesis. When biomass is used instead of fossil fuels, assimilated atmospheric carbon replaces the geologically sequestered one. This approach prevents an additional increase in net CO_2 emissions. Although decarbonisation is one of the primary goals in mitigating climate change, current manufacturing is largely hydrocarbon-based. Most petrochemical products cannot be replaced by non-carbon sources. The carbohydrates stored in biomass might not be directly used in the hydrocarbon-based chemical industry but can be converted to platform chemicals for further processing.

The European Union identified 25 biorefinery-produced compounds with strong potential to serve as platform chemicals (Taylor et al., 2015). These platform chemicals, which include ethanol and lactic acid (Figure 1), can serve as bulk intermediates for more sustainable production of higher-value chemicals, such as acrylic acid (Dagle et al., 2020), butadiene (Angelici et al., 2013), and polylactic acid (Datta & Henry, 2006). Accordingly, biomass can replace finite fossil resources as renewable feedstock for value chains in the chemical industry.

1.2 The concept of biorefineries

Biorefineries enable economically feasible conversion into fuels and chemicals via an integral, efficient use of biomass. Like oil refineries, biorefineries are envisaged to convert biomass feedstocks into building blocks suitable for the generation of food, feed, chemicals, fuels, and energy in the form of heat or power (de Jong et al., 2012). Biorefinery conversion processes are generally classified as either thermo-chemical or biochemical. Thermo-chemical conversion includes the combustion of biomass for heat and power generation (IRENA, 2019), biomass gasification to syngas (Göransson et al., 2011), pyrolysis (Wang et al., 2017), hydrothermal liquefaction (Gollakota et al., 2018), and pulping processes. The biochemical conversion pathway is based on the microbial conversion of fermentable sugars into fuels, chemicals, and biogas (McKendry, 2002).



Figure 1: The concept of a biorefinery for the biochemical conversion of lignocellulose into potential platform chemicals. The listed platform chemicals were identified by the US Department of Energy (Bozell & Petersen, 2010). Ethanol and lactic acid (highlighted in bold) were selected as products in my thesis to demonstrate the application of biorefineries for platform chemical production and to discuss the development of process designs to improve process performance. 5-HMF, 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural; FDCA, 2,5-Furandicarboxylic acid; 3-HP, 3-Hydroxypropionic acid.

For biorefineries based on biochemical conversion, various feedstocks have been identified, including starch- or lipid-containing food crops, lignocellulose-based biomass, municipal and industrial waste, and algae. The first and still most utilised feedstock is represented by food crops specifically grown for biorefinery purposes, such as corn, sugarcane or sugar beet (Balan, 2014). However, the utilisation of food crops for chemical production received wide public criticism due to concerns about food security and changes in land use, referred to as the food versus fuel debate (Rulli et al., 2016). Therefore, research has shifted towards second-generation biorefineries that can use lignocellulosic feedstocks, such as residues from agricultural or forestry practice, wood, and energy crops. Examples include straw, stover, switchgrass, wood, logging residues, as well as by-products from industrial biomass operations (*e.g.* saw dust or hulls from milling processes). However, the sugars in these feedstocks are embedded in a recalcitrant lignocellulosic structure, which requires additional processing steps. These steps decrease fermentable sugar yields compared to first-generation feedstocks, yet economic competitiveness relies on second-generation feedstocks remaining inexpensive sources of biomass.

Lignocellulose-based biorefineries that employ fermentative conversion adhere to a generalised process scheme (Figure 2). After harvest, the feedstock is collected, stored, and transported to the biorefinery. Particle size reduction is followed by pretreatment, intended to decrease the inherent recalcitrance of lignocellulose and to fractionate the feedstock into a cellulose-rich, easily hydrolysable solid fraction plus a liquid fraction rich in hemicellulose, lignin or combinations thereof. After pretreatment, the material is subjected to enzymatic hydrolysis to release fermentable sugars stored in the lignocellulosic structure. During fermentation, these sugars can be metabolised by microorganisms to produce platform chemicals as intermediates for further valorisation or for direct utilisation as commodity chemicals. After hydrolysis and fermentation, the product is separated from the fermentation broth. To increase economic viability and sustainability, biorefineries are typically designed to maximise resource utilisation through process integration.



Figure 2: Simplified process scheme of a lignocellulose-based biorefinery. The products of the biorefinery are ethanol, biogas, and electricity. The main unit processes in lignocellulose-based biorefineries are pretreatment, cell propagation, hydrolysis and fermentation, product separation and purification (in the case of ethanol this is achieved by distillation and dehydration), co-product generation (here represented by anaerobic digestion and heat and power generation), and wastewater treatment. Adopted from **Paper IV**.

Nonetheless, reaching cost-competitiveness with fossil fuel-based platform chemical production remains a challenge for lignocellulose-based biorefineries. The main hurdles are represented by ensuring a constant, year-round supply of inexpensive feedstock, the inherent recalcitrance of lignocellulosic biomass to enzymatic hydrolysis, and the toxicity of pretreatment by-products towards industrial microorganisms. Overcoming these drawbacks is necessary to achieve the capital and operational cost savings required to reach cost-competitiveness.

1.3 Aim and scope

The overall goal of this work was to develop and assess process designs that could improve the performance of biorefineries based on fermentation of agricultural and forestry residues for platform chemical production. The goal was approached in the following ways: **Expanding the feedstock base to novel, inexpensive feedstocks** was the first approach. In my thesis, spruce logging residues (**Paper I**), combined spruce and pine logging residues (**Paper II**), and oat hulls (**Paper II**) were assessed as feedstocks for ethanol production. To efficiently convert these feedstocks to platform chemicals, *pretreatments tailored to novel feedstocks* had to be devised. In **Paper I**, the acid-catalysed steam pretreatment conditions for spruce logging residues were optimised with the help of response surface models (RSMs). This allowed concurrent high sugar recoveries after pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis, and low concentrations of inhibitors.

Using mixed feedstocks to upgrade the low carbohydrate contents in logging residues was investigated in Paper II. Logging residues contain comparably low amounts of carbohydrates and abundant lignin. The low content of hydrolysable solids in enzymatic hydrolysis limits fermentations with high solid loadings. High solid loadings, though, are required to reach ethanol titres suitable for an economically feasible distillation process. Therefore, the mixing of carbohydrate-rich oat hulls with logging residues during simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation (SSCF) was investigated for batch and model-based multi-feed SSCFs. In multi-feed SSCFs, solids and cells were added throughout the process according to hydrolysis models to ensure mixability at high solids loadings. To identify potential bottlenecks to SSCF and process integration caused by the respective feedstock, the biochemical composition, hydrolysability, and toxicity of the pretreated liquid phase towards cellular growth were assessed.

One way to improve the cost-competitiveness of biorefineries is to increase volumetric and specific productivities. For *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, preadaptation has been proven effective at increasing ethanol productivity through improved inhibitor tolerance (Nielsen et al., 2015). Such process design was applied in **Paper II**. During propagation, cells were exposed to hydrolysate containing toxic lignocellulose-derived inhibitors to preadapt them to the subsequent fermentation step. In **Paper III**, *transfer of the preadaptation method from ethanol production by S. cerevisiae KE6-12A to lactic acid production from wheat straw by Bacillus coagulans MA-13* was assessed. To find the optimal trade-off between preadaptation and biomass formation during propagation, cells were propagated at different hydrolysate concentrations to screen for the impact of inhibitors on maximal growth rates. Lactic acid production was compared at different inoculum sizes between batch SSCFs with non-adapted cells and cells preadapted at the various hydrolysate concentrations.

Biorefinery processes are typically assessed with regards to their technical design, economic potential, and environmental sustainability. Therefore, quantitative assessments at different system scales, ranging from bioprocess models to global-scale life cycle evaluations, are required. In **Paper IV**, a multi-scale model was developed, which enabled a holistic assessment of biorefineries from bioprocess scale to techno-economic analysis (TEA) and life cycle assessment (LCA). A *multi-scale variability analysis framework* was developed, which could quantify the impacts of input variations on the overall biorefinery performance and the robustness of different unit processes, including pretreatment (**Paper I**), fermentation (**Paper II**), and propagation (**Paper III**). Using a wheat straw-based ethanol

biorefinery as a case study, the impact of variations in enzymatic activity on batch and multifeed SSCFs was analysed from a bioprocess, techno-economic, and life cycle perspective.

In the first part of this thesis, the characteristics of lignocellulose-based biorefineries employing fermentative conversion are presented. In **Chapter 2**, a short overview of the chemical composition of lignocellulosic feedstocks is provided, followed by a description of the criteria for feedstock selection and the application of these criteria to the feedstocks utilised in this thesis. In **Chapter 3**, a broad overview of pretreatment techniques for lignocellulosic biomass is given, before focusing on steam pretreatment to compare the findings presented in **Paper I** with published data. The overall bioprocess, including preadaptation, enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation, is presented in **Chapter 4**, as well as in **Papers II** and **III**. In **Chapter 5**, an overview of assessing biorefinery performance at different system scales by modelling is provided and related to the findings in **Paper IV**.

2. Lignocellulosic feedstocks for biorefineries

Over the past decades a range of feedstocks have been investigated for biochemical biorefinery applications. Potential feedstocks encompass food crops, lignocellulosic biomass, algae, as well as industrial and household waste. Lignocellulosic biomass includes agricultural and forestry residues, wood, and energy crops, and is categorized based on phylogeny and taxonomy into softwoods, hardwoods, and herbaceous biomass. Herbaceous biomass is represented by agricultural residues, such as cereal straw and hulls, stover, and energy crops (*e.g. Miscanthus*). Hardwoods include, for example, aspen and poplar, whereas spruce, pine, and Douglas fir are examples of softwoods. The suitability of lignocellulosic feedstocks as substrates for fermentative processes is determined by their biochemical composition, mostly by the relative abundance of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. The biochemical composition, as measured per National Renewable Energy Laboratory protocols, varies within species and biomass categories, as shown in Table 1.

Manual Galactian Xylan Arabinan Calactian Xylan Arabinan Common Manual Manua Manual Manual Manual Manual Manua Manual Manual Man	Riomass type	Glucan		Hemicel	llulose		Lionin	Extractives	Ash	References
Herbaccous biomussWheat straw $30-32$ $0-2$ 1 $19-22$ 3.4 $17-21$ 13 2 (Fide et al., 200)Wheat straw $30-32$ 0.1 1.2 33.2 3.4 $17-21$ 13 2.9 Paper IIOat hulls 32.8 0.1 1.2 33.2 3.4 $17-20$ 5 Paper IICorn stover $36-48$ $1-2$ 2.3 $22-23$ 4 $17-20$ 5 Paper IICorn stover $36-48$ $1-2$ 2.3 $22-23$ 4 $17-20$ 5 Paper IIUnderstand $36-48$ $1-2$ 2.3 $22-23$ 4 $17-20$ 5 Paper IIUnderstand $42-49$ 1 0 16 0 $24-28$ 4 $1-2$ Stores the Store Stor		IIII	Mannan	Galactan	Xylan	Arabinan	IIIISIT		1101 7	
Wheat straw $30-32$ $0-2$ 1 $19-22$ 3.4 $17-21$ 13 2 Find et al., 20 Out hulls 32.8 0.1 1.2 33.2 3.4 17.2 5 2.9 Paper I Corn stover 36.48 $1-2$ $2-3$ 3.2 4 $17-20$ 5.7 9 Paper I Corn stover 36.48 $1-2$ $2-3$ 2 $2-3$ 4 $17-20$ -1 $2-7$ 9 Hardwood $42-49$ 1 0 16 0 $24-28$ 4 $1-2$ $2-3-3$ 4 $1-2$ 20 60	Herbaceous biomass									
Oat hulls 32.8 0.1 1.2 33.2 3.4 17.2 5 2.9 Paper II Corn stover $36-48$ $1-2$ $2-3$ $22-23$ 4 $17-20$ $$ $2-7$ (Bondesson et.al., Objects et al., Objectal., Objects et al., Objectal., Objects et al., Obje	Wheat straw	30–32	02	1	19–22	3-4	17–21	13	7	(Erdei et al., 2013; Tomás- Pejó et al., 2008)
Corn stover $36-48$ $1-2$ $2-3$ $22-23$ 4 $17-20$ $$ $2-7$ (Bordeson et al., 2) Hardwood Hardwood $42-49$ 1 0 16 0 $24-28$ 4 $1-2$ (Bordeson et al., 2) Poplar $42-49$ 1 0 16 0 $24-28$ 4 $1-2$ (Bordeson et al., 2) Spruce stem wood $40-54$ $12-18$ 3 5 1 $32-34$ 7 <1 $(Monavair et al, 2) (Monavair et al, 2) (Monava$	Oat hulls	32.8	0.1	1.2	33.2	3.4	17.2	Ŋ	2.9	Paper II
Hardwood Poplar $42-49$ 1 0 16 0 $24-28$ 4 $1-2$ (canarella et a study stud	Corn stover	36-48	1–2	2–3	22–23	4	17–20	ł	2-7	(Bondesson et al., 2015; Öhgren et al., 2007)
Poplar $42-49$ 10160 $24-28$ 41-2(Cantarella et a)SoftwoodSoftwood $40-54$ $12-18$ 351 $32-34$ 7<1 $80600000000000000000000000000000000000$	Hardwood									
Softwood Spruce stem wood $40-54$ $12-18$ 3 5 1 $32-34$ 7 <1 $[Monavari et al]$ Spruce stem wood $40-54$ $12-18$ 3 5 1 $32-34$ 7 <1 $[Monavari et al]$ Spruce bark $23-27$ 3 $1-2$ $4-5$ $4-5$ $27-34$ $20-28$ $2-4$ $(Finho et al., 2018)$ Spruce bark $23-31$ $9-12$ $2-3$ $2-4$ $3-5$ $28-35$ $10-26$ $(Finho et al., 2018)$ Spruce needles $25-31$ $9-12$ $2-3$ $2-4$ $3-5$ $28-35$ $10-26$ $(Finho et al., 2018)$ Logging residues $29/1$ 7 4.3 $3-7$ $3-4.7$ $(Finho et al., 2018)$ Logging residues $29/1$ 7 43.9 7.6 7.6 $Paper II$ Logging residues $38-43$ $11-14$ $2-4$ $5-7$ 2 $7-3$ 9 0 $(Hanfikoski et al., 2018)$ Pine stem wood $38-43$ $11-14$ $2-4$	Poplar	42–49	1	0	16	0	24–28	4	1–2	(Cantarella et al., 2004; Stoklosa & Hodge, 2012)
Spruce stem wood $40-54$ $12-18$ 3 5 1 $32-34$ 7 <1 $(Monavair et al. 2)$ Spruce bark $23-27$ 3 $1-2$ $4-5$ $4-5$ $27-34$ $20-28$ $2-4$ $(Frankó et al., 2018)$ Spruce bark $23-31$ $9-12$ $2-3$ $2-4$ $3-5$ $28-35$ $10-26$ $(Iohansson, 19)$ Spruce needles $25-31$ $9-12$ $2-3$ $2-4$ $3-5$ 34.7 12.7 2.6 $Paper 1$ Logging residues 29.1 7 4.3 5.8 2.2 34.7 12.7 2.6 $Paper 1$ Logging residues 29.1 7 4.0 6.0 2.1 43.9 7.6 3.1 $Paper 1$ Pine stem wood $38-43$ $11-14$ $2-4$ $5-7$ 2 $27-32$ $3-9$ 0 $(Hanhikoski et al., Nonmark et al., N$	Softwood									
Spruce bark $23-27$ 3 $1-2$ $4-5$ $4-5$ $27-34$ $20-28$ $2-4$ (Frankó et al., 2018)Spruce needles $25-31$ $9-12$ $2-3$ $2-4$ $3-5$ $28-35$ $10-26$ (Johansson, 19)Logging residues 29.1 7 4.3 5.8 2.2 34.7 12.7 2.6 Paper 1 25.0 6.3 4.0 6.0 2.1 43.9 7.6 3.1 Paper 1Pine stem wood $38-43$ $11-14$ $2-4$ $5-7$ 2 $27-32$ $3-9$ 0 (Hanhikoski et al., Normark et al., No	Spruce stem wood	40–54	12–18	${\mathfrak o}$	2	-	32–34	L	$\overline{\vee}$	(Monavari et al., 2010; Pielhop et al., 2016a)
Spruce needles 25–31 9–12 2–3 2–4 3–5 28–35 10–26 (Johansson, 19) Logging residues 29.1 7 4.3 5.8 2.2 34.7 12.7 2.6 Paper I Logging residues 29.1 7 4.3 5.8 2.2 34.7 12.7 2.6 Paper I 25.0 6.3 4.0 6.0 2.1 43.9 7.6 3.1 Paper II Pine stem wood 38–43 11–14 2-4 5–7 2 27–32 3–9 0 (Hanhikoski et Al., Normark et al., Normar	Spruce bark	23–27	б	1–2	4-5	45	27–34	20–28	2-4	(Frankó et al., 2015; Neiva et al., 2018)
Logging residues 29.1 7 4.3 5.8 2.2 34.7 12.7 2.6 Paper I 25.0 6.3 4.0 6.0 2.1 43.9 7.6 3.1 Paper II Pine stem wood 38-43 11–14 2-4 5-7 2 27–32 3-9 0 (Hanhikoski et Normark et al.,	Spruce needles	25-31	9–12	2–3	24	3-5	28-35	10–26		(Johansson, 1995)
25.0 6.3 4.0 6.0 2.1 43.9 7.6 3.1 Paper II Pine stem wood 38–43 11–14 2–4 5–7 2 27–32 3–9 0 (Hanhikoski et Normark et al., Normark e	Logging residues	29.1	7	4.3	5.8	2.2	34.7	12.7	2.6	Paper I
Pine stem wood 38-43 11-14 2-4 5-7 2 27-32 3-9 0 (Hanhikoski et al., Normark e		25.0	6.3	4.0	6.0	2.1	43.9	7.6	3.1	Paper II
	Pine stem wood	38–43	11–14	2-4	5-7	5	27–32	3–9	0	(Hanhikoski et al., 2019; Normark et al., 2014)

2.1 Lignocellulose and its characteristics

Lignocellulosic feedstocks are dominated by the major constituents of plant cell walls: Cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. Most plants have a multi-layered cell wall structure, consisting of the outermost middle lamella, the primary cell wall, and the secondary cell wall surrounding the cell membrane. The primary cell wall is the site of cell growth. The middle lamella connects the primary cell walls of different cells. Secondary plant cell walls define the structure of plants (Martin et al., 2001), provide rigidity (Burton et al., 2010) and, depending on the site, protection against microbial degradation (Cantu et al., 2008; Vorwerk et al., 2004). The chemical composition of plant cell walls changes according to species variety (Benjamin et al., 2014; Welch et al., 1983), age (Rencoret et al., 2011), cell type (Burton et al., 2010), and cell localization (Collins et al., 2014). In the following sections, the characteristics of the various components of lignocellulosic biomass, such as cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, extractives, pectin, and inorganic compounds are detailed.

2.1.1 Cellulose

Cellulose is a linear polysaccharide consisting of glucopyranosyl units linked via β -1,4-glycosidic bonds. The degree of polymerisation depends on the biomass and pretreatment method used. For native biomass, degree of polymerisation ranges of 1045–2660 for herbaceous biomass, 3063–5000 for softwoods, and 3500–5000 for hardwoods have been reported (Hallac & Ragauskas, 2011). Hydrogen bonds between the hydroxyl groups and oxygen atoms, and Van-der-Waals interactions cause cellulose chains to align in flat, parallel structures. Stacked together, cellulose chains form crystalline microfibrils, which themselves aggregate in a highly ordered structure, interrupted by amorphous cellulose. The topology of amorphous and crystalline cellulose, and their interaction, result in a hydrophobic, recalcitrant cell wall component aimed at providing tensile strength (Sjöström, 1993).

2.1.2 Hemicellulose

Hemicellulose provides rigidity to the plant cell wall by binding to cellulose (Morris et al., 2004), lignin (Balakshin et al., 2011), and pectin (Tan et al., 2013). In contrast to cellulose, hemicellulose consists of various hexose and pentose sugars, including arabinose, galactose, glucose, mannose, rhamnose, and xylose. Substitutions by acetyl groups (Bååth et al., 2018; Jaafar et al., 2019), glucuronic acid (Urbanowicz et al., 2012), and ferulic acid esters (Harris & Trethewey, 2010) further increase hemicellulose diversity. These substitutions vary between species. In softwoods, xylans are not acetylated, whereas acetylation is abundant in herbaceous biomasses. Softwood hemicellulose is dominated by galactoglucomannans (Ek et al., 2009); while glucuronoxylans dominate hardwood (Ek et al., 2009). Furthermore, arabinoglucuronoxylans predominate in herbaceous hemicellulose, with xylan being the major sugar building block in hardwood and herbaceous hemicellulose. Owing to its

amorphous structure, hemicellulose is less recalcitrant to enzymatic hydrolysis than cellulose.

2.1.3 Lignin

Cellulose and hemicellulose are embedded in a complex lignin matrix. Lignin is a variable aromatic polymer generated through radical polymerisation of substituted phenyl propylene units (Ragauskas et al., 2014). Although there is considerable variability, lignin is primarily formed by the monolignols *p*-coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol, and sinapyl alcohol, which give rise to hydroxyphenyl, guaiacyl, and syringyl subunits, which further polymerise. The distribution and abundance of lignin subunits vary greatly between plant species. Softwoods lack syringyl units, but contain abundant guaiacyl units (Dellon et al., 2017), resulting in a branched lignin (Ragauskas et al., 2014). Hardwood lignins are guaiacyl- and syringyl-rich (Sjöström, 1993), whereas in herbaceous biomass all three monomer units are present (Dellon et al., 2017). Together with hemicellulose, lignin forms lignin-carbohydrate complexes (Du et al., 2013), which reinforce the recalcitrance of plant cell walls to enzymatic degradation. Breaking the bonds between hemicellulose and lignin is essential to achieve efficient enzymatic hydrolysis.

2.1.4 Pectin, extractives, and inorganic compounds

Plant cell walls also contain pectin, extractives, proteins, and inorganics. Pectin is a polysaccharide with α -1,4-linked galacturonic acid as the main building block, which is found mostly in the middle lamella and in the primary cell wall (Mohnen, 2008). Pectin binds to cellulose in primary cell walls (Wang et al., 2012b) and its abundance varies between species.

Extractives encompass a highly diverse group of compounds soluble in water and neutral organic solvents. It comprises non-structural sugars, waxes, sterols, fatty acids, glycerides, terpenoids, steroids, and phenolics (Prinsen et al., 2012; Sjöström, 1993). Extractives' content varies considerably between species and even within plants. For example, in the logging residues used for **Paper II**, extractives accounted for 5.0% of the wood fraction, 15.5% of bark, and 16.4% of needles.

Biomass contains inorganic compounds, such as phosphate, silicates, and potassium salts, which are converted to ash upon combustion. Typically, wood contains less ash than herbaceous biomass (Tao et al., 2012). Ash content is influenced by the harvesting method, with biomass harvested near the ground usually displaying significantly more ash because more soil is taken up during collection.

2.2 Selection of feedstocks for biorefineries

The suitability of feedstocks for biochemical biorefineries is assessed based on the planned conversion process and product in mind. Generally, the assessment is based on several selection criteria: Biochemical composition, potential supply, and environmental impact of growing and harvesting the feedstock.

The biochemical composition of candidate feedstocks determines the design of all processing steps in a biorefinery. For biorefineries based on the fermentative conversion of sugars, a high carbohydrate content is of prime interest. Elevated carbohydrate levels increase the expected concentration of fermentable sugar concentrations after pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis, and thereby potential product titres. Higher product titres are often associated with lower energy demands during subsequent product purification, in turn lowering overall operational costs. Both cellulose and hemicellulose are important sources of fermentable sugars, whose release depends not only on the carbohydrate content, but also on the inherent recalcitrance of the raw material to enzymatic hydrolysis. The recalcitrance of lignocellulosic feedstocks is determined by lignin and hemicellulose shielding the underlying cellulose, cellulose crystallinity and degree of polymerisation, accessible surface area, particle volume, pore size, and interactions thereof (Zhao et al., 2012). It has been identified as one of the main impediments to economic competitiveness of lignocellulosic biorefineries (Himmel et al., 2007).

In addition, suitable feedstocks should contain low amounts of ash. Soil ash can buffer acid catalysts during pretreatment, thereby decreasing effective catalyst loads (Weiss et al., 2010). Solid fermentation residues rich in lignin and ash are usually combusted to generate heat and power in integrated biorefinery systems. Silicate-rich ashes of herbaceous biomass such as rice straw (Liu et al., 2013) can lead to slagging, fouling, and sintering during combustion (Lindström et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2012a).To overcome these problems, additives are introduced, thus increasing operational costs (Wang et al., 2012a).

The potential supply is an important criterion for feedstock selection. A constant, year-round feedstock supply has been identified as a major challenge for the operation of biorefineries. Biomass availability is subjected to natural variations. Seasonal and geographic variations in biomass yields and composition (Lewandowski & Heinz, 2003; Ray et al., 2020), harvest seasons, and weather conditions influence biomass availability and, therefore, feedstock prices. As the latter contribute heavily to operational costs (Humbird et al., 2011), fluctuations in feedstock prices have direct consequences on the economic feasibility of lignocellulose-based biorefineries. Therefore, suitable feedstocks should be available all year round and, preferably, have a constant chemical composition. However, agricultural feedstocks are particularly prone to variations in biomass availability because of harvest seasons. Storage solutions such as baling (Argo et al., 2013) or ensiling (Wendt et al., 2018) can help avoid supply chain disruptions, but add to process costs. Furthermore, advanced supply chains are necessary to ensure a steady supply of biomass. Bulk transport capacity is required to handle the supply of low-density lignocellulosic biomass such as logging

residues, which should ideally occur at low moisture contents. To minimise transport costs and CO₂ emissions, suitable feedstocks should be harvested within a short distance from biorefineries or depots with bulk transport capacity (Noon et al., 2002).

Another important criterion guiding feedstock selection is the environmental impact of biomass growth and harvest for biorefinery applications. This is determined through LCA, as in the case of wheat straw in **Paper IV**. As the political and public support for biorefineries is to a large extent based on the expectation that biorefinery products significantly reduce CO_2 emissions compared to their fossil fuel-based counterparts, a low climate impact of growth and harvest is paramount. In particular, the need for fertilisers should be minimised as they contribute to eutrophication and soil acidification. Repurposing of land use for feedstock should also be minimised to avoid elevated prices for arable land devoted to food production.

2.3 Residual biomass for biorefinery applications

Currently, biorefineries rely mainly on first-generation feedstocks, including corn, sugarcane or sugar beet (Balan, 2014). Due to the food versus fuel debate (Rulli et al., 2016) and an increased use of land for biofuel production (Havlík et al., 2011), the utilisation of food crops for biorefinery applications has been placed under scrutiny. The European Union has mandated restrictions on land-use change for biofuel production (European Union, 2018), promoting instead the utilisation of lignocellulosic biomass.

Table 2: Suitability of feedstocks investigated in this thesis with respect to the selection criteria defined in Chapter 2.2.

	Wheat straw	Oat hulls	Logging residues
Potential supply	+++	+	+++
Biomass availability	+++	+	+++
Feedstock price	++	unknown	+++
Biochemical composition	++	+++	+
Environmental impact	++	++	+++

+ low performance ++ moderate performance +++ high performance

Lignocellulosic feedstocks exert a lower environmental impact than first-generation feedstocks (Parajuli et al., 2015). Thus, lignocellulosic biomass has a strong potential to meet the policy-driven goals on climate impact and land-use change. However, the economics of lignocellulose-based biorefineries suffer from the lower carbohydrate content per dry metric ton and higher recalcitrance of lignocellulosic biomass. To retrieve fermentable sugars, pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis are required. These unit processes are associated with the highest costs within the biorefinery process chain (Yang & Wyman, 2008). To reach cost-competitiveness with first-generation feedstocks, further savings in capital and operational costs are required.

In lignocellulose-based biorefineries, feedstock is the largest contributor to operational costs, amounting to 30–40% depending on feedstock and process design (Chovau et al., 2013; Humbird et al., 2011; Klein-Marcuschamer et al., 2010). One way to lower the cost is to use inexpensive feedstocks such as residual biomass from agricultural and forestry operations. Wheat straw is one of the most abundant agricultural residues; annual global estimates place it at 134–192 TWh (Bentsen et al., 2014; Jørgensen et al., 2019)¹. However, not all wheat straw can be utilised for biorefinery applications. To ensure sufficient soil organic matter, typically 25% of the harvested wheat straw is left on the field (Nemecek et al., 2017). Furthermore, wheat straw is used for heat and power production (Bentsen et al., 2018), as bedding material (Tuyttens, 2005), and as soil cover in mushroom and vegetable production (Kretschmer et al., 2012). Still, the bioeconomic potential for wheat straw is high, and has been estimated at 11 TWh for the European Union alone (Thorenz et al., 2018)¹.

Wheat straw is a locally or regionally traded commodity with significant price differences among regions. While wheat straw prices range between €10.8-19.4 MWh⁻¹ in southern Sweden (Bentsen et al., 2016) and between €18.0-19.8 MWh⁻¹ in Denmark (Bang, 2013), in other countries no market for wheat straw exists yet as it is burned on the field without further valorisation (Talebnia et al., 2010). High biomass availability in combination with elevated carbohydrate content (Table 1) and locally low prices make wheat straw a promising feedstock for biorefinery applications (Table 2). Thus, in **Paper III** wheat straw was used as feedstock for lactic acid production. Several attempts to commercialise wheat straw-based biorefineries have been made. As of 2021, Clariant is constructing a plant in Podari, Romania, with a planned annual capacity to convert 300.000 t of wheat straw into 50.000 t of ethanol based on its proprietary sunliquid[®] process (Clariant AG, 2020).

Attempts to establish viable biorefineries have not been restricted to agricultural residues. In countries with a strong forestry sector, the utilisation of wood as feedstock has been broadly investigated. As wood is already used in the pulp and paper industry, as construction material, manufacturing board, and furniture, interest has been directed towards coniferous logging residues obtained as by-products from thinning and logging operations.

¹ Converted from Mt assuming a conversion factor of 4166 Wh·kg⁻¹ according to the higher heating value of wheat straw (Montero et al., 2016)

In this thesis, the utilisation of logging residues for bioethanol production was investigated in **Papers I** and **II**. In Sweden, logging residues cost on average \in 14.4 MWh⁻¹ (Grahn, 2019)². Usually, a portion of these residues is used for combined heat and power generation (Ericsson & Werner, 2016), the rest is left on the ground to provide nutrients to the soil, especially carbon and nitrogen (Hyvönen et al., 2000). However, logging residues have been associated with an increased risk of wildfires (Evans & Finkral, 2009) and pests in productive forests (Bernhold et al., 2006; Hanssen et al., 2018), which can be prevented by their removal. In Sweden, the annual bioeconomic potential of extracting logging residues has been estimated to be 33 TWh and for Canada 175 TWh (IRENA, 2019), and is in line with environmental standards. In comparison to wheat straw, logging residues can be available all year round and do not require large capital investment into storage facilities.

Utilisation of inexpensive feedstocks such as logging residues typically comes at the price of an inferior feedstock quality. As softwoods, coniferous logging residues are more recalcitrant to enzymatic hydrolysis than herbaceous biomass (Galbe & Wallberg, 2019), requiring more severe pretreatments (Galbe & Zacchi, 2012) and higher enzyme loadings (Arantes & Saddler, 2011). The heterogeneity of logging residues and their low carbohydrate content (Table 1) add to the challenges posed by softwood biomass to biorefinery processes. The heterogeneity stems from the bark, needle, and wood fractions having different physical and chemical characteristics. The bark fraction of logging residues contained half as much glucan (15.8%) as the wood fraction (33.4%), but significantly more lignin (Table 1, **Paper II**). The higher lignin content contributes to the higher recalcitrance of spruce bark compared to wood chips (Frankó et al., 2015) and, consequently, would require more severe pretreatment conditions to ensure efficient enzymatic hydrolysis (Frankó et al., 2015). Unit processes for heterogeneous feedstock mixtures such as logging residues cannot be optimised for individual feedstock fractions (e.g. bark). Instead, process conditions are the result of trade-offs between the process optima of each fraction, which typically leads to yield losses. Moreover, the low glucan content of logging residues (Table 1) restricts attainable fermentable sugar concentrations and, in turn, product titres. As discussed in Chapter 2.2, low product titres often translate into high energy demands for downstream processing, lowering the profitability of biorefineries. Thus, the biochemical composition is the main limitation to the utilisation of logging residues for biorefinery applications (Table 2).

One way to overcome the unfavourable biochemical composition of carbohydrate-poor lignocellulosic biomass is to upgrade the substrate via feedstock mixing. This practice has been discussed primarily in the context of reduced supply chain risks (Baral et al., 2019; Oke et al., 2016). Improving the biochemical composition and specifically carbohydrate content could potentially reduce operational costs by increasing product titres. In most studies, the integration of lignocellulosic feedstocks into existing first-generation ethanol plants has been discussed (Erdei et al., 2013; Persson et al., 2020). This choice seems natural from two perspectives. First, integration of first- and second-generation feedstocks into one

² Exchange rate for SEK to € in 2019: 0.095, according to (European Central Bank, 2020)

biorefinery can reduce costs and, thereby, pave the way for lignocellulose-based biorefineries. Second, processing of first-generation feedstocks results in sugar solutions too concentrated for fermentation; hence, they could be diluted with carbohydrate-poor lignocellulose-derived hydrolysate. As biofuel and biorefinery policies in the European Union (European Union, 2018) and United States of America (Congressional Research Service, 2020) mandate an increased share of lignocellulose-based biorefinery products, carbohydrate-rich lignocellulosic raw materials are preferred over first-generation feedstocks.

Oat hulls represent a carbohydrate-rich lignocellulosic raw material. The total carbohydrate content of oat hulls utilised in Paper II was 71%, and the lignin content 17% (Table 1). Because of their high cellulose and hemicellulose content, oat hulls are attractive for biorefineries (Schmitz et al., 2020). As by-products of the oat milling process, oat hulls form a homogenous feedstock with predictable characteristics, which distinguishes them from other agricultural residues such as wheat straw. However, oat hulls suffer from low bulk density and high flowability, which makes transport inefficient and expensive. Therefore, they are typically considered as waste in oat mills, and are not a traded or priced commodity (Table 2). Recently, the combustion of oat hulls for heat and power generation, previously associated with slagging problems, has been investigated (Zhang et al., 2013). The global annual technical potential of oat hulls is estimated at 5–8 Mt, equivalent to 1.1–1.8 TWh³, considering a global oat production in 2018 of 23 Mt (FAO, 2020) and that oat kernels contain 22-35% oat hulls (Welch et al., 1983). Accordingly, the technical potential of oat hulls is approximately 100 times lower than that of wheat straw. Despite other alternative uses, including as dietary fibre in food (Stevenson et al., 2011) and feed (Hsu et al., 1987), industrial-scale production of furfural from oat hulls (Brownlee & Miner, 1948) implies that supply is sufficiently high enough to establish local oat hull-based biorefineries, possibly integrated with oat mills. An example of such process integration is xylitol production from steam-pretreated oat hulls at Fazer's oat mill in Lahti, Finland, which is currently under construction (Oy Karl Fazer Ab, 2020).

In conclusion, the main benefits of utilising residual biomass sources are their low price and low environmental impact, paired with an elevated local supply. In contrast, common drawbacks include their lower carbohydrate content and higher recalcitrance compared to first-generation feedstocks. Wheat straw is currently one of the most investigated feedstocks for lignocellulose-based biorefineries. The comparably high carbohydrate content and vast supply are the main reasons for its use in biorefineries. Wheat straw utilisation was demonstrated in **Paper III** for lactic acid production. Compared to wheat straw, logging residues have a higher supply potential, which makes them interesting for biorefinery applications; however, as shown in **Papers I** and **II**, the low carbohydrate and lignin contents contribute to higher recalcitrance to enzymatic hydrolysis. In comparison, oat hulls contain elevated amounts of carbohydrates, making them interesting for biorefinery applications, but

³ Assuming a higher heating value of 16,118 kJ·kg⁻¹ (Zhang et al., 2013)

are limited by low supply potential, which favours the location of oat hull-based biorefineries close to established oat mills.

3. Biomass pretreatment

As explained in Chapter 2, the high recalcitrance of lignocellulosic biomass derives from its complex biochemical composition, determined, among others, by the degree of polymerisation, crystallinity, and shielding of cellulose (Zhao et al., 2012). Therefore, enzymatic hydrolysis of untreated feedstocks typically results in low hydrolysis rates and yields (Mosier et al., 2005), both which need to be improved to enable lignocellulose-based biorefineries.

Pretreatment is essential to reduce the recalcitrance of lignocellulosic materials and, thereby, turn lignocellulosic feedstocks into feasible substrates for enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation. A broad range of pretreatment methods has been developed (Table 3). In general, they rely on two common mechanisms: Biomass fractionation into a cellulose-rich solid phase plus a liquid phase enriched in lignin, hemicellulose or both, which reduces shielding effects; and/or material fragmentation plus size-reduction to increase the accessible surface area. To achieve efficient fractionation and fragmentation, severe conditions are required, making pretreatment one of the most expensive unit processes in biorefineries (Yang & Wyman, 2008). Suitable pretreatment methods should require low energy inputs or enable efficient process integration, and have low operational and capital costs (Galbe & Zacchi, 2012). So far, only a few methods have been found suitable for commercial application, including steam pretreatment for herbaceous biomass (Larsen et al., 2012) and acid-catalysed steam pretreatment for the more recalcitrant softwoods (Galbe & Zacchi, 2012).

Pretreatment	Main mechanism	Typical feedstocks	Reference
Organosolv	Lignin extraction Hemicellulose hydrolysis	Herbaceous biomass Softwood Hardwood	(Zhang et al., 2016)
Ammonia fibre expansion	Lignin extraction	Herbaceous biomass	(Jin et al., 2012; Tao et al., 2011)
Ionic liquids	Fractionation of macromolecules	Herbaceous biomass Softwood Hardwood	(Brandt et al., 2013)
SPORL (Sulfite pretreatment to Overcome Recalcitrance of Lignocellulose)	Hemicellulose hydrolysis, lignin sulfonation	Softwood	(Dien et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2009)
Dilute acid pretreatment	Hemicellulose hydrolysis	Herbaceous biomass	(Tao et al., 2011)
Biological pretreatment	Fungal-induced degradation	Herbaceous biomass Softwood Hardwood	(Ray et al., 2010)
Steam pretreatment	Hemicellulose hydrolysis, fragmentation	Herbaceous biomass Softwood Hardwood	(Ewanick et al., 2007; López- Linares et al., 2015; Tengborg et al., 1998)

Table 3: Main mechanism and typical feedstocks for selected pretreatment methods.

3.1 Steam pretreatment

Steam pretreatment, also referred to as steam explosion, is a well-established technique derived from the Masonite process for fibreboard production (Boehm, 1930). Originally developed for steam-treating wood, this method has been proven suitable for a broad range of feedstocks, from agricultural residues, including corn stover (Liu & Chen, 2016) and wheat straw (Nielsen et al., 2017), to hardwoods such as willow stem wood (Sassner et al., 2006), and softwood biomass such as spruce stem wood (Pielhop et al., 2016a; Söderström et al., 2003). In this work, steam pretreatment was applied to logging residues (**Papers I** and **II**), oat hulls (**Paper II**), and wheat straw (**Paper III**). Steam pretreatment has been tested in several units at demonstration and pilot scale and is close to commercialisation (Galbe & Zacchi, 2012). During steam pretreatment the feedstock is

rapidly heated up by the application of high-pressure live steam and the temperature is held at 160 °C to 240 °C for a few seconds or up to several minutes (Galbe & Zacchi, 2012), depending on the feedstock. Afterwards, the feedstock is decompressed by a sudden pressure drop, while the material is discharged from the pretreatment reactor.

3.1.1 Mechanism

Steam pretreatment changes the chemical composition and physical characteristics of the feedstock. Hemicellulose is solubilised into the liquid phase, from here on referred to as hydrolysate, whereas cellulose and lignin remain in the solid phase. Hemicellulose hydrolysis is governed by protonation reactions targeting either the glycosidic or ring oxygen. The generated carbonium ions react with water to form monosaccharides (Sella Kapu & Trajano, 2014).

Without an acid catalyst, hemicellulose hydrolysis is mainly dependent on autohydrolysis. Steam pretreatment causes the release of acetyl groups from hemicellulose. Once in solution, they turn into acetic acid, which can serve as proton donor in hydrolysis reactions. Because autohydrolysis reactions are limited by the acetyl content in the hemicellulose fraction, they can result in efficient hemicellulose solubilisation of acetyl-rich herbaceous biomass and hardwoods, but not of acetyl-poor softwood (Galbe & Zacchi, 2012). Acid catalysts, such as H₂SO₄ or SO₂, are added to provide protons for hemicellulose hydrolysis, thereby reducing reaction times and temperatures.

Following pretreatment, lignin and cellulose remain in the solid phase. Lignin is relatively enriched due to hemicellulose solubilisation. Accordingly, in **Paper I**, hemicellulose content declined from 29% to <3% after pretreatment, while lignin content increased from 35% to 64–82%, depending on pretreatment conditions. Steam pretreatment reduces the degree of cellulose polymerisation, freeing up more reducing ends for exoglucanase activity during subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis (Hallac & Ragauskas, 2011). Compared to hemicellulose, cellulose is more stable because of its microfibrillar, crystalline structure (Li et al., 2005).

Lignin is relocated during steam pretreatment, and its structure changed. Above the glass transition temperature, lignin has been reported to cycle between the liquid and solid phase as a result of solubilisation, phase transitions (Trajano et al., 2013), and depolymerising chemical reactions, including the formation of carbonium intermediates under acidic conditions, which cause cleavage of ether bonds in β -O4'-linked lignin structures (Li et al., 2007). At the same time, lignin can repolymerise by building carbon-carbon linkages between the carbonium intermediate and its aromatic ring structures (Li et al., 2007; Pielhop et al., 2016b). Repolymerised lignin differs in its physical properties, presenting an increased specific surface area, which further hinders enzymatic hydrolysis (Pielhop et al., 2016b).



Figure 3: Surface characteristics of pretreated logging residues visualised by environmental scanning electron microscopy. Logging residues were steam-pretreated at 214°C for 20 min as described in **Paper I**. Environmental scanning electron microscopy was performed with the SSD detector of a Quanta 200 ESEM at 5 kV in low-vacuum mode to visualise the presence of condensates (darker colour) on the surface of logging residues and the pores generated during acid-catalysed steam pretreatment (unpublished data). Images were taken at the Chalmers Material Analysis Laboratory.

Extractives and carbohydrates have been reported to form lignin-like condensates, which are measured as Klason lignin and are referred to as pseudo-lignin. Pseudo-lignin is also recalcitrant to enzymatic hydrolysis (Hu et al., 2012). However, the extent of its recalcitrance compared to natural lignin remains unclear (Shinde et al., 2018). For the logging residues used in **Paper I**, the presence of condensation products on the surface of pretreated logging residues could be visualised by environmental scanning electron microscopy (Figure 3).

The physical characteristics of feedstocks vary in response to changes in biochemical composition and pretreatment conditions. Hemicellulose removal and lignin redistribution increase cellulose accessibility. The adiabatic expansion of the material upon decompression further increases cellulose accessibility due to fibre fragmentation and smaller particle sizes (Pielhop et al., 2016a). Furthermore, steam pretreatment generates pores and augments pore size through changes in the chemical composition and expansion of steam in the tracheid (Muzamal et al., 2015), as exemplified in Figure 3 for steam-pretreated logging residues used in **Paper I**.

3.1.2 Optimisation

From a process perspective, pretreatment is arguably the most influential unit process in lignocellulose-based biorefineries. Pretreatment conditions affect size reduction of the raw material, enzymatic hydrolysis, fermentation, the potential for co-product generation, and

wastewater treatment requirements (Yang & Wyman, 2008). Therefore, efficient reduction of feedstock recalcitrance is not the only criterion assessed during pretreatment development. Rather, pretreatment must meet the demands of up- and downstream unit processes. For example, suitable pretreatments should repress the formation of lignocellulose-derived inhibitors, which prevent microbial growth and product formation. By addressing these issues, the inherent recalcitrance of lignocellulosic feedstocks and the decreased fermentation efficiency in response to lignocellulose-derived inhibitors may be alleviated.

Consequently, pretreatments are often subjected to multi-parametric assessments that evaluate enzymatic hydrolysability, fermentability, as well as monosaccharide, solid, and inhibitor concentration in the hydrolysate (Table 4). Low inhibitor concentrations are desirable to reduce potential toxic effects on microbial growth and fermentation. Combined with analysis of the chemical composition of the solid phase, assessing monosaccharide concentration in the hydrolysate can provide information on the solubilisation of hemicellulose and cellulose. In addition, enzymatic hydrolysability and fermentability are evaluated directly, either separately or in SS(C)F processes.

The assessment of enzymatic hydrolysability serves two purposes: Evaluation of the ability of a pretreatment to efficiently reduce recalcitrance (*i.e.* hydrolysis efficiency), and estimation of the potential to release sugars during enzymatic hydrolysis from a given amount of solids (*i.e.* technical hydrolysis potential). Typically, enzymatic hydrolysability is expressed as hydrolysis yield based on glucan. However, for the design of enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation, the technical hydrolysis potential is also important, as these processes are designed based on solid and not glucan loadings. That is because glucan content in the solid fraction changes with different pretreatment conditions. As a result, the technical potential might be higher for a material with elevated glucan content and inefficient hydrolysis than for a material with low glucan content but high hydrolysis efficiency. Therefore, the technical hydrolysis potential, expressed as hydrolysis yield based on water-insoluble solids (WIS), is an important additional measure in the evaluation of pretreatments.

Name	Unit	Measure for
Sugar concentration in hydrolysate	[g·L ⁻¹]	 Initial sugar concentration in fermentation Hemicellulose solubilisation (in combination with solid phase assessment)
Sugar recovery	[%]	• Overall conversion yields
Inhibitor concentration in hydrolysate	[g·L ⁻¹]	Inhibition of enzymatic hydrolysisInhibition of microbial growthInhibition of product formation
Solid content after pretreatment	[%]	 Potential for high solid loadings in enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation Demand for wastewater treatment
Microbial growth rate	$[h^{-1}]$	Inhibition of microbial growthOverall hydrolysate toxicityNutrient availability
Hydrolysis yield	$[g_{Glc} \cdot g_{Glucan}^{-1}]$	• Hydrolysis efficiency
	$[g_{Glc} \cdot g_{WIS}^{-1}]$	• Sugar potential
Product titre	$[g \cdot L^{-1}]$	• Product formation potential
Product yield	$[g_{Product} \cdot g_{Glucan}^{-1}]$	• Product formation efficiency

Table 4: Typical response variables for the development of steam pretreatment. The response variables serve as direct measures and proxies for parameters used to evaluate pretreatment.

Most reactions during steam pretreatment, including hemicellulose solubilisation or lignin relocation and repolymerisation, are influenced by temperature, holdup time, and catalyst load. Consequently, these variables are routinely used to optimise process conditions. Other relevant factors include moisture content of the feedstock and chip size (Olsen et al., 2015). Because the exact reaction mechanisms during pretreatment are not fully understood, design of experiments (DoE) is combined with response surface methodology Black Box modelling to optimise pretreatment conditions. For Black box modelling, an in-depth knowledge of the system under study is not necessary. DoE strategies can minimise the number of experiments required to derive information from which to estimate the effects, interactions, and variations of pre-defined predictor variables on selected response variables. RSMs are typically generated by fitting polynomial models to the data and offer rapid identification of optimum

conditions in a pre-defined design space. In **Paper I**, the conditions previously developed for H_2SO_4 -catalysed steam pretreatment of spruce stem wood were adjusted to and optimised for logging residues, accounting for structural and compositional differences. To find optimum pretreatment conditions, a central composite DoE strategy was combined with RSMs, setting temperature and holdup time as predictor variables.

Hemicellulose was efficiently solubilised under all investigated conditions, as indicated by solid phase analysis (**Paper I**). Maximum concentrations of hemicellulose-derived sugars in the hydrolysate were measured under the least severe pretreatment conditions. For example, maximum xylose concentrations, indicated by the lavender-coloured area in Figure 4, were obtained when either one predictor variable was minimal and the other maximal, or when both temperature and holdup time were minimal. Cellulose solubilisation required more severe pretreatment conditions than hemicellulose, which can be explained by the more resistant, microfibrillar, crystalline structure of cellulose (Li et al., 2005). Therefore, maximum glucose concentrations (light blue area, Figure 4) were found at a higher temperature (206–208 °C) than for hemicellulose-derived sugars. A decline in glucose concentration under more severe conditions, *i.e.* at higher temperatures and longer holdup times, was caused by the degradation of released monosaccharides, as shown also for spruce stem wood (Stenberg et al., 1998), and dilution by condensing steam.

In acidic environments and at commonly applied pretreatment temperatures, solubilised monosaccharides undergo degradation reactions to form compounds that are toxic to microorganisms. Furfural and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF) are the ones most commonly used to assess hydrolysate toxicity (Galbe & Wallberg, 2019). Furfural is the degradation product of pentose sugars and 5-HMF of hexoses (Jönsson et al., 2013). The mechanisms of furfural and 5-HMF formation and their toxic effects will be detailed later in this chapter. RSMs showed that the concentrations of 5-HMF (dark red area, Figure 4) and furfural (light red area, Figure 4) were dependent on both temperature and holdup time. Because cellulose solubilised at higher temperatures than hemicellulose, 5-HMF concentration was maximal at higher pretreatment temperatures than for furfural (Figure 4). Notably, the minima for 5-HMF and furfural matched the maxima for hemicellulose-derived sugar concentrations, *i.e.* xylose (lavender-coloured area, Figure 4).

The optimum conditions for an efficient hydrolysis, expressed as enzymatic hydrolysis yields based on glucan (light yellow area, Figure 4), coincided with the optimum conditions for glucose concentrations in the hydrolysate. However, the maximal technical potential to release glucose from solids, expressed as hydrolysis yield based on WIS (dark blue area, Figure 4), was found under the least severe pretreatment conditions. These conditions coincided with the highest ethanol concentrations in SSCF experiments (green dots, Figure 4).



Figure 4: Sweet spot analysis for the optimisation of H_2SO_4 -catalysed steam pretreatment conditions of logging residues. The plot shows the maximum concentrations of xylose (lavender), glucose (light blue), furfural (light red), and 5-HMF (dark red) in the hydrolysate after pretreatment; the maximum hydrolysis yields, based on glucan (light yellow) and WIS (dark blue); the maximum ethanol concentrations after a 72 h SSCF in shake-flasks (green dots); and the joint sweet spot (black dots). The sweet spot was a trade-off between high fermentability and high hydrolysis yields, based on glucan (Paper I).

Thus, the optimisation procedure in **Paper I** resulted in a trade-off between high enzymatic hydrolysability, based on glucan, and improved fermentability (Figure 4). The identified sweet spot (4.4–8 min, 200–205 °C; black dotted area Figure 4) ensured hydrolysis yields, based on glucan, at par with reported ones for spruce stem wood (Wang et al., 2018), high glucose concentrations in the hydrolysate, as well as limited 5-HMF and furfural formation and thereby reduced inhibition of microbial growth or product formation.

The influence of the acid catalyst, which was not tested in **Paper I**, remains under debate. The most common acid catalysts are sulphuric acid and sulphur dioxide, although other catalysts, *e.g.* acetic acid (Bondesson & Galbe, 2016), have been tested. Contradictory results have been published on the impact of catalyst loads. In acid-catalysed steam pretreatment of spruce wood chips, the SO₂ load had no significant impact on pretreatment results (Stenberg et al., 1998), whereas a significant effect has been reported for SO₂-catalysed steam pretreatment, without explosive decompression, of spruce logging residues (Janzon et al., 2014). In contrast, the type of acid catalyst has a more discernible effect. Comparison between H₂SO₄ and SO₂ has revealed superior hydrolysability by the latter (Tengborg et al., 1998; Wang et al., 2018), which has been associated with smaller particle sizes caused by SO₂ pretreatment (Wang et al., 2018). The impact of the catalyst on ethanol
fermentation has been characterised by contradicting results, leading to both lower (Martín et al., 2002; Tengborg et al., 1998) and higher ethanol yields (Wang et al., 2018) with H_2SO_4 compared to SO_2 as catalyst.

Optimal pretreatment conditions strongly depend on the feedstock and vary not only between biomass species, but also between different anatomical parts of the same species. The optimal pretreatment temperatures found in **Paper I** for spruce logging residues (200– 205 °C) were significantly lower than those reported for spruce stem wood (~210 °C) (Stenberg et al., 1998). A contributing factor could be the lower particle size of logging residues, which comprise significant amounts of fines and needles, in comparison to stem wood chips. Feedstocks less recalcitrant than softwoods such as oat hulls (**Paper II**) require less severe pretreatment conditions to achieve high enzymatic hydrolysis yields.

3.1.3 Lignocellulose-derived inhibitors

The severe conditions of steam pretreatments induce the formation of a panoply of byproducts, some of which are toxic to microorganisms. These inhibitory compounds can decrease biomass and product formation in terms of both yields and productivity. Thus, inhibitors constitute a major obstacle to achieving cost-competitive platform chemical production in lignocellulose-based biorefineries. Inhibitor formation depends on pretreatment conditions, mainly temperature, holdup time, and pH, as well as on feedstock type. Typically, inhibitors are grouped according to their chemical properties. The most important inhibitor groups are furaldehydes, weak organic acids, and phenolics.

The furaldehydes 5-HMF and furfural are the degradation products of hexoses and pentoses, respectively (Figure 5). Pretreatment of pentose-rich oat hulls resulted in more furfural than 5-HMF, whereas in logging residue hydrolysate the opposite was true (**Paper II**). Furaldehydes are formed by temperature-dependent dehydration reactions (Ramos, 2003). However, as shown in **Paper I**, both temperature and holdup time significantly influenced furaldehyde concentrations (Figure 4). Longer holdup times increase the dilution of pretreated material by condensing steam, providing an explanation for the effect of holdup time on furaldehyde concentrations.

In *S. cerevisiae*, furfural and 5-HMF inhibit several essential enzymes, including alcohol, acetaldehyde, and pyruvate dehydrogenases (Modig et al., 2002). Furfural has been reported to inhibit two key glycolytic enzymes, hexokinase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Banerjee et al., 1981), as well as damage the mitochondria, vacuoles, actin cytoskeleton, and nuclear chromatin by inducing reactive oxygen species (Allen et al., 2010).

Several microorganisms, among them *S. cerevisiae* (Almeida et al., 2009) and some but not all *Bacillus coagulans* strains (van der Pol et al., 2016; Ye et al., 2014), can convert furfural into less toxic compounds. Under respiratory conditions, both *B. coagulans* and *S. cerevisiae* can oxidise furfural to furoic acid (Horváth et al., 2003; Ye et al., 2014). Under respiro-

fermentative conditions, *S. cerevisiae* can convert furfural to both furoic acid via oxidation and furfuryl alcohol via reduction (Horváth et al., 2003); whereas under anaerobic conditions, furfuryl alcohol is generated (Almeida et al., 2009). *B. coagulans* MA-13, the strain used in **Paper III**, has also been shown to metabolise furfural under anaerobic conditions (Aulitto et al., 2017) and express genes for *in situ* detoxification (Aulitto et al., 2019). Furthermore, *S. cerevisiae* can convert 5-HMF to the less toxic 2,5-bis-hydroxymethylfuran (Liu et al., 2004).

In S. cerevisiae, furfural conversion is NAD(P)H-dependent and, therefore, lowers the intracellular NAD(P)H level. To cope with the increased NAD(P)H demand under aerobic conditions, S. cerevisiae augments the flux through the pentose phosphate pathway to regenerate NADPH (Pornkamol & Franzén, 2015). Under anaerobic conditions, NADHdependent furfural detoxification compensates for the re-oxidation of NADH by glycerol formation and thus results in a net decrease in glycerol (Ylitervo et al., 2013). At the same time, furfural reduction causes competition for alcohol dehydrogenase, which reduces both furfural to furfuryl alcohol and acetaldehyde to ethanol. Under anaerobic conditions, this competition results in an intracellular accumulation of acetaldehyde, which blocks cell replication (Palmqvist et al., 1999a). Overall, the combination of stress induced by reactive oxygen species, reduced intracellular NAD(P)H and ATP levels, and inactivation of and competition for enzymes decrease the specific growth rate, biomass yield, ethanol productivity and yield, and cause a lag phase (Almeida et al., 2007). For S. cerevisiae, the duration of the lag phase depends on the concentrations of furfural and 5-HMF prior to their detoxification. In **Paper I**, furfural concentrations could be used as a proxy for the lag phase during aerobic growth of S. cerevisiae KE6-12A due to a strong correlation between the two $(R^2=0.85)$. Low furfural concentrations can favour xylose consumption in S. cerevisiae. Under anaerobic conditions, furfural can serve as an electron acceptor to produce NAD⁺, which can be utilised in recombinant xylose-fermenting yeast strains expressing the xylose reductase (XR) / xylitol dehydrogenase (XDH) pathway (Wahlbom & Hahn-Hägerdal, 2002).

Increasing the severity of pretreatment conditions promotes further conversion of 5-HMF and furfural. 5-HMF is transformed into levulinic acid (Girisuta et al., 2007), whereas furfural and 5-HMF can be degraded to formic acid (Jönsson et al., 2013) (Figure 5). Furthermore, the labile acetyl groups in hemicellulose solubilise into the liquid phase, forming acetic acid (Figure 5). This is particularly obvious during pretreatment of herbaceous biomass and hardwoods due to their abundant hemicellulose acetylation. As shown in **Paper II**, the hydrolysate fraction of steam-pretreated oat hulls contained more acetic acid ($6.3 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) than logging residue hydrolysate ($3.8 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) did. Acetic, levulinic, and formic acids reduce microbial growth and final product yields (Almeida et al., 2007) in a variety of microorganisms, ranging from *B. coagulans* (Cubas-Cano et al., 2020) to *S. cerevisiae* (Ullah et al., 2012). The primary toxicity mechanism of weak organic acids is common to all microorganisms. They enter predominantly via passive diffusion in their undissociated form (Trček et al., 2015). Inside cells, the local pH causes the acids to dissociate, driving an acid influx until the concentrations of undissociated organic acid inside

and outside the cells are in equilibrium (Lindahl et al., 2018). Consequently, as protons and organic anions accumulate, an active transport of protons and, for some microorganisms, of the acids themselves is required to maintain the typically higher intracellular pH. The ATP-dependent active proton transport decreases ATP availability for growth. The cells can only grow while proton influx and efflux rates are equal. Influx in the undissociated form depends largely on the cultivation pH and pK_a of the acid. Because of its low pK_a of 3.75, formic acid can be more toxic than levulinic (pK_a: 4.64) or acetic (pK_a: 4.76) acids (Guo & Olsson, 2014).



Figure 5: The most important fermentable monosaccharides and lignocellulose-derived inhibitors in pretreated hydrolysates. Hexose (light green) and pentose (dark green) sugars are carbon sources for fermentative microorganisms. Furaldehydes (light red), weak organic acids (red), and phenolics (dark red) inhibit microbial growth and product formation. Furaldehydes are sugar degradation products, the weak organic acids levulinic acid and formic acid are furaldehyde degradation products, acetic acid is mainly a product of acetyl groups released during hemicellulose solubilisation, and phenolics result from degradation of lignin and extractives.

Additionally, weak organic acids can elicit various microorganism-specific secondary toxicity mechanisms, ranging from the generation of apoptosis-inducing reactive oxygen species in *S. cerevisiae* (Ludovico et al., 2001) to exhaustion of the overall glutathione pool (Guo & Olsson, 2014). Nevertheless, under anaerobic conditions, low concentrations of weak organic acids can favour the production of ethanol in *S. cerevisiae* (Palmqvist & Hahn-Hägerdal, 2000) and lactic acid in *B. coagulans* (**Paper III**), while generating the ATP required for active proton transport.

Phenolic compounds, such as vanillin and coniferyl aldehyde, are also generated from lignin or the extractive fraction during steam pretreatment (Figure 5). Due to their elevated structural heterogeneity and the large variety of different toxicity mechanisms, only few phenolic compounds have been studied in detail. The inhibitory effects of phenolics on microbial activity are determined by their functional groups (Jönsson et al., 2013) and the substitution position (Almeida et al., 2007). *S. cerevisiae* can detoxify some phenolics, including coniferyl aldehyde, ferulic acid, and *p*-coumaric acid (Adeboye et al., 2015). Phenolic compounds not only inhibit microbial activity, but also cellulolytic enzymes by forming hydrogen bonds with proteins (Ximenes et al., 2011).

The toxicity of inhibitors in the hydrolysate fraction should not be assessed separately. Several studies have shown synergies between inhibitors (Ding et al., 2011; Palmqvist et al., 1999b), or between fermentation products at high concentrations and inhibitors (Lindahl et al., 2018; Westman et al., 2017). In Papers I, II, and III, the effects of logging residue, oat hull, and wheat straw hydrolysates on growth of S. cerevisiae KE6-12A and B. coagulans MA-13 were assessed. Both microorganisms were grown in the presence of increasing hydrolysate concentrations to identify the thresholds at which microbial growth was completely inhibited. Increasing hydrolysate concentrations decreased the maximal specific growth rates of *B. coagulans* MA-13 (Paper III) and *S. cerevisiae* KE6-12A (Paper II); maximal specific growth rates in the negative controls without oat hull and logging residue hydrolysate did not differ significantly. Direct comparison revealed that oat hull hydrolysate had a higher inhibitory effect on the maximal specific growth rate of S. cerevisiae KE6-12A than logging residue hydrolysate. Specifically, the toxicity threshold was reached at an oat hull hydrolysate concentration of 80% (Figure 6). At the same logging residue hydrolysate concentration, cells still showed significant growth as indicated by a relative maximum specific growth rate of 56% compared to the negative control (Figure 6).

The higher inhibitory effect of oat hull hydrolysate can be attributed to the higher acetic acid and furfural concentrations ($6.3 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ and $4.3 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$, respectively) compared to logging residue hydrolysate ($3.8 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ and $1.2 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$, respectively), a result of the higher acetyl and xylan content of oat hulls (Table 1). Furthermore, under all investigated conditions, oat hull hydrolysate led to a lag phase, which is in agreement with reported lag phases caused by furfural detoxification (Almeida et al., 2009).



Figure 6: Effect of logging residue and oat hull hydrolysate on the relative maximal specific growth rate of *S. cerevisiae* KE6-12A. Cells were cultured in flowerplates in the BioLector platform (m2p-labs GmbH, Baesweiler, Germany) in $4 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ peptone and $2 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ yeast extract, and supplemented with different hydrolysate concentrations. To ensure comparability, the concentrations of glucose, galactose, mannose, and xylose were adjusted to those measured in respective the undiluted hydrolysates. The difference between the maximum specific growth rates of the negative controls without oat hull or logging residue hydrolysate was within the measurement error. Error bars indicate the standard deviation of at least technical duplicates (**Paper II**).

The screening experiments on logging residue and oat hull in **Paper II** did not only reveal the inhibitory effects of pretreated hydrolysates, but they also confirmed the advantage of utilising oat hull hydrolysate at low concentrations. While the final biomass concentration decreased with increasing logging residue hydrolysate concentrations, oat hull hydrolysate concentrations below 40% had the opposite effect. While cells in the negative controls entered a linear growth phase without depleting xylose after exponential growth on glucose, cells grown on low oat hull hydrolysate concentrations benefitted from xylose consumption, which resulted in extended exponential growth. The results suggest that in the absence of hydrolysate, the cells became nutrient-limited under the tested conditions and that low oat hull hydrolysate concentrations could overcome this nutrient limitation.

In conclusion, the steam pretreatment conditions developed for spruce stem wood were adapted to logging residues in **Paper I**, resulting in hydrolysis yields at par with stem wood despite the unfavourable biochemical composition of the logging residues. Optimal pretreatment conditions for logging residues reflected a trade-off between enzymatic hydrolysability and fermentability. Inhibitors formed during steam pretreatment impeded microbial growth and fermentability (**Papers I**, **II**, and **III**) and, thus, represent an additional obstacle that needs to be overcome in lignocellulose-based biorefineries. As shown in **Paper II**, despite favourable sugar concentrations, oat hull hydrolysate was more toxic to *S. cerevisiae* than logging residue hydrolysate, but could, at low concentrations, provide necessary nutrients to facilitate growth.

4 Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation

Pretreatment lays the foundation for enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation. As outlined in Chapter 3, the main targets of pretreatment are to efficiently reduce recalcitrance, ensure high sugar recovery after pretreatment *and* enzymatic hydrolysis, and avoid inhibitor generation. Cellulose remains in the solid phase in most pretreatment methods, which prevents solubilised cellulose from excessive degradation under severe pretreatment conditions. One way to increase the accessible surface area of cellulose is to solubilise hemicellulose and/or lignin and, thus, reduce their shielding effect on cellulose. Overall, the solids generated during pretreatment are typically enriched in cellulose and can contain varying levels of lignin and hemicellulose depending on the pretreatment method used. Enzymatic hydrolysis is necessary to release the carbohydrates that remain in the solids into the liquid phase to provide fermentable monosaccharides which serve as substrates to fermentation.

4.1 Enzymatic hydrolysis

Even after pretreatment, lignocellulosic material is characterised by high structural complexity, which necessitates the application of several enzymes, including cellulolytic, hemicellulolytic and accessory enzymes, to efficiently hydrolyse cellulose and hemicellulose (Van Dyk & Pletschke, 2012). Cellulolytic enzymes are classified into endoglucanases, β -glucosidases, and cellobiohydrolases (CBH). CBHs hydrolyse either the reducing (CBH I) or non-reducing ends (CBH II) of crystalline cellulose, endoglucanases cleave within cellulose chains, and β -glucosidases release glucose by hydrolysing the glucooligomers released by CBHs and endoglucanases (*e.g.* cellobiose or cellodextrins) to glucose (Bornscheuer et al., 2014). Endoglucanases are produced also by *B. coagulans* MA-13, which was used in **Paper III** (Aulitto et al., 2017). They attack the amorphous regions of cellulose (Bubner et al., 2013) and reduce the degree of polymerisation.

Cellulolytic enzymes act synergistically, meaning that the enzymatic activity of the enzyme mixture is higher than the sum of the individual enzyme activities (Van Dyk & Pletschke, 2012). Cooperation between cellulolytic enzymes has been suggested, whereby endoglucanases rapidly degrade amorphous cellulose to uncover CBH-binding sites in the crystalline cellulose region and enable subsequent CBH hydrolysis (Ganner et al., 2012). Furthermore, cellulolytic enzymes act synergistically with lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases (Tokin et al., 2020). The latter are copper-dependent enzymes that cleave glycosidic bonds in crystalline cellulose in the presence of oxygen and an electron source (Beeson et al., 2015; Johansen, 2016). As a result, they provide new binding sites for CBHs. Hydrolysis of crystalline cellulose is slower than that of the amorphous region (Ganner et al., 2012), which is reflected by overall hydrolysis kinetics. An initial phase of rapid hydrolysis of amorphous cellulose entities is followed by a rate-retardation phase towards linear hydrolysis behaviour (Arantes & Saddler, 2011).

Various hemicellulolytic enzymes are required to efficiently saccharify lignocellulosic biomass, accounting for the structural heterogeneity of hemicellulose. Depending on biomass type, different activities are needed. While the hydrolysis of hardwood hemicellulose is predominantly governed by xylanases, mannanases dictate the saccharification of softwood hemicellulose (Álvarez et al., 2016). In addition, accessory enzymes remove substituents such as acetyl groups from hemicellulose backbones to increase accessibility to depolymerising enzymes. Hemicellulolytic enzymes act synergistically with cellulolytic enzymes on lignocellulosic biomass by increasing the accessibility of cellulose and are essential for an efficient hydrolysis even in raw material containing little hemicellulose after pretreatment (García-Aparicio et al., 2007).

Cellulolytic, hemicellulolytic, and accessory enzymes are typically combined in enzyme cocktails to obtain high enzymatic hydrolysis yields (Van Dyk & Pletschke, 2012). In **Papers I**, **II**, and **III**, the commercial enzyme cocktail Cellic CTec2 was applied. The performance of these cocktails is dictated by their constituents, the pretreated material they are applied to, and reaction conditions. The accessibility of binding sites on the cellulose surface of pretreated material is one of the limiting factors for efficient enzymatic hydrolysis. This is especially important for feedstocks with a low glucan content such as logging residues, because the accessible cellulose surface area is small and hydrolysis yields are thereby low (Arantes & Saddler, 2011).

Accordingly, at low enzyme loadings (5 FPU· g_{WIS}^{-1}), hydrolysis yields based on glucan, were substantially lower with logging residues (27%) than with oat hulls (96%) (**Paper II**). Given that the hydrolysis yield on oat hulls was already high at the lowest enzyme dosage, a ceiling was reached regardless of further increases in enzyme dosage (Figure 7). The ceiling indicates that hydrolysis proceeded until only the highly crystalline, undegradable cellulose was left (Arantes & Saddler, 2011). In contrast, hydrolysis yields on logging residues increased with greater enzyme dosages, but even at the highest enzyme dosage (20 FPU· g_{WIS}^{-1}), they remained 41% lower than with oat hulls (Figure 7). Because of the lower recalcitrance of oat hulls in comparison with logging residues, as indicated by higher

hydrolysis yields and ~200% higher hydrolysis rate (**Paper II**), oat hull solids were rapidly liquefied by enzymatic hydrolysis. In contrast, a combination of low glucan and high lignin content resulted in strong recalcitrance of logging residues, which was a major hurdle to efficient saccharification and liquefaction of the medium.

The high lignin content in logging residues (Table 1) presents an additional challenge to enzymatic saccharification. Besides decreasing the accessible surface area of cellulose through shielding effects (Kumar et al., 2012) as discussed in Chapter 3, lignin and pseudo-lignin diminish hydrolysis rates through non-specific binding of cellulolytic enzymes on their surface (Rahikainen et al., 2013). As shown in **Paper II**, the addition of bovine serum albumin was more successful at increasing hydrolysis yields on logging residues than on oat hulls. Bovine serum albumin binds to hydrophobic surfaces and prevents cellulolytic enzymes from non-specific binding to lignin (Eriksson et al., 2002). The effect of non-specific binding was larger in lignin-rich logging residues than lignin-poor oat hulls.

The extractive fraction of pretreated solids can play an important role in enzymatic hydrolysis. Extractives have been associated with impaired saccharification (Nitsos et al., 2019). This was confirmed upon the removal of extractives with ethanol, whereby hydrolysis yield on oat hulls showed a minor, yet significant increase from 97% to 100%. Increased hydrolysis yields after ethanol extraction have been attributed to the removal of surface lignin and pseudo-lignin (Nitsos et al., 2019). In contrast, ethanol extraction decreased enzymatic hydrolysis yield on pretreated logging residues by 72%. This may be explained by amphiphilic wood extractives preventing cellulolytic enzymes from irreversible, non-specific binding to the cellulose surface (Leskinen et al., 2015). By removing these extractives with ethanol extraction, irreversible, non-specific binding on the cellulose surface increases and hydrolysis yields decrease.



Figure 7: Influence of enzyme dosage and removal of extractive fractions on enzymatic hydrolysis of logging residues and oat hulls. (A) Hydrolysis yields, based on glucan, of logging residues and oat hulls at Cellic CTec2 loadings of 5 FPU·g_{WIS}⁻¹ (dark grey), 10 FPU·g_{WIS}⁻¹ (light grey), and 20 FPU·g_{WIS}⁻¹ (white). (B) Hydrolysis yields, based on glucan, of unextracted (dark grey), water-extracted (light grey), and ethanol-extracted (white) logging residues and oat hulls at 10 FPU·g_{WIS}⁻¹ of Cellic CTec2. All reactions were performed at 1.5% WIS and 50 °C for 72 h (**Paper II**).

Enzymatic hydrolysis performance is influenced also by reaction conditions. Most cellulolytic and hemicellulolytic enzymes have temperature optima of approximately 50 °C and pH optima between 4 and 6 (Singhania et al., 2010). Hence, enzymatic hydrolysis is a milder process than pretreatment. The mild conditions favour high glucose recovery as sugar degradation only occurs at the high temperatures at which pretreatments are conducted. Another important factor is solids loading. As shown in **Paper II**, hydrolysis yields on logging residues decreased with increasing solid loadings, which is in line with previous findings (Humbird et al., 2010; Weiss et al., 2019). The solids effect has been attributed to increased end-product inhibition (especially for older enzyme cocktails), mass transfer limitations, water availability at the reaction site (expressed as water constraint) and the effect of biochemical composition, especially lignin inhibition (da Silva et al., 2020). Compared to other reports, whereby the solids effect was detected at 15% WIS loadings (Weiss et al., 2019), here, it was already apparent at 4% with logging residues, probably due to elevated lignin content in logging residues and consequent increased non-specific binding of cellulolytic enzymes.

4.2 Fermentation in lignocellulosic medium

Fermentation processes in lignocellulose-based biorefineries rely on the release of fermentable sugars during enzymatic hydrolysis and the ability of microorganisms to convert these sugars at high rates and yields in the presence of lignocellulose-derived inhibitors. To ensure high yields, primary metabolites should be produced anaerobically, thus avoiding carbon losses to biomass growth and to complete substrate oxidation to CO₂ (Weusthuis et al., 2011). This is of particular importance for bulk products, such as ethanol and lactic acid, which must be produced at high yields to achieve economic feasibility. Hence, microorganisms suitable for the production of primary metabolites should be anaerobes or facultative anaerobes, such as *B. coagulans* and *S. cerevisiae*. In lignocellulose-derived medium, these microorganisms face two challenges: The variety of monosaccharides derived from pretreated biomass, all of which should be utilised to obtain high product yields, and the inhibitors generated during pretreatment.

Besides glucose, lignocellulosic media contain also hemicellulose-derived sugars. As discussed in Chapter 2, their abundance depends on the lignocellulosic feedstock. Xylose and arabinose are the most abundant hemicellulose-derived monosaccharides in agricultural feedstocks; whereas mannose and galactose are the most common in softwoods. After pretreatment, oat hull hydrolysate contained more than double the concentration of xylose than glucose (58.8 g·L⁻¹ and 25.1 g·L⁻¹, respectively) (**Paper II**).

However, most industrially relevant microorganisms are unable to convert all the different monosaccharides present in lignocellulosic media. *B. coagulans* MA-13 can metabolise glucose, cellobiose, and mannose but is unable to convert other hemicellulose-derived sugars (Aulitto et al., 2017). Further metabolic engineering would be necessary to achieve high technical yields on lignocellulosic substrates by introducing xylose and arabinose utilisation

pathways. The natural ability of several *B. coagulans* strains to convert arabinose and/or xylose (Pleissner et al., 2016; Ye et al., 2013) should simplify these metabolic engineering efforts. *S. cerevisiae* can naturally convert glucose, mannose, and galactose (Dynesen et al., 1998; Ostergaard et al., 2000), but is unable to efficiently metabolise xylose and arabinose. Although *S. cerevisiae* harbours genes to metabolise xylose, its conversion remains negligible (Toivari et al., 2004). Hence, various attempts to introduce xylose and, to a lesser extent, arabinose conversion pathways into *S. cerevisiae* have been made (Endalur Gopinarayanan & Nair, 2019).

S. cerevisiae KE6-12A, the strain used in **Papers I** and **II**, has been metabolically engineered to utilise xylose following the introduction of the XR gene *xyl1* and the XDH *xyl2* from *Scheffersomyces stipitis*, as well as overexpression of the endogenous xylulokinase gene *XKS1* (Wahlbom et al., 2003). After metabolic engineering, the strain underwent several rounds of evolutionary engineering to improve xylose utilisation and inhibitor tolerance at elevated temperatures (Albers et al., manuscript in preparation; Novy et al., 2017). In the XR/XDH pathway, XR catalyses the NAD(P)H-dependent conversion of xylose to xylitol, and XDH further converts xylitol to xylulose while generating NADH (Eliasson et al., 2001). Under anaerobic conditions, the different co-factor dependence in the XR/XDH pathway causes a co-factor imbalance, which results in increased xylitol production and diversion of xylose away from ethanol production (Kötter & Ciriacy, 1993). Furthermore, xylose uptake in *S. cerevisiae* relies on non-specific hexose transporters with a several-fold higher affinity for glucose than for xylose (Kötter & Ciriacy, 1993). Therefore, an efficient xylose uptake requires low glucose concentrations, which can be achieved by process design.

Lignocellulose-derived inhibitors generated during pretreatment hinder product formation and lower cell viability. To alleviate inhibitory effects, various hydrolysate detoxification methods have been developed (Jönsson et al., 2013); however, they increase costs by introducing an additional unit process. Therefore, research has focused on promoting inhibitor tolerance of microorganisms, using adaptive laboratory evolution (Almario et al., 2013), metabolic engineering (Larsson et al., 2001; Petersson et al., 2006), and preadaptation (Alkasrawi et al., 2006; Nielsen et al., 2015; Van Dijk et al., 2019). In this context, tolerance can be defined as the ability of cells to maintain viability and productivity in the presence of lignocellulose-derived inhibitors.

In preadaptation, also referred to as short-term adaptation, cells are exposed to dilute hydrolysate during propagation prior to fermentation (Alkasrawi et al., 2006; Nielsen et al., 2015; Van Dijk et al., 2019). Exposure to inhibitors activates several cellular responses, such as the upregulation of genes involved in oxidative stress response, thiamine and biotin biosynthesis, and furaldehyde detoxification (Van Dijk et al., manuscript in preparation). During preadaptation, phenotypes with an increased inhibitor tolerance come to dominate the cell population due to, for example, faster *in situ* detoxification. As outlined in Chapter 3.1.2, this represents an essential tool of microorganisms to cope with the toxicity exerted by inhibitors. The detoxification mechanisms help reduce inhibitor concentrations over time,

alleviate inhibitor-induced stress, and form an integral part of preadaptation. Consequently, preadapted cells have been shown to exhibit a shorter lag phase in subsequent fermentations because of improved furfural and 5-HMF reduction (Narayanan et al., 2016).

Improved inhibitor tolerance leads to higher product formation rates during fermentation, especially at higher solid loadings (Alkasrawi et al., 2006). This phenomenon is observed also in xylose-utilising *S. cerevisiae*, as the *in situ* detoxification of low furfural concentrations improves xylose utilisation and ethanol yields (Tomás-Pejó & Olsson, 2015). The improvement is achieved indirectly as reduction of furfural to furfuryl alcohol results in both NADH oxidation to NAD⁺, which can be reutilised in the XR/XDH pathway, and in a decrease in xylitol production, so that more xylose can be co-consumed to form ethanol. Therefore, *in situ* detoxification elicited by preadaptation benefits xylose co-consumption (Nielsen et al., 2015).

Preadaptation in Bacillus coagulans MA-13

In **Paper III**, the concept of preadaptation was applied to lactic acid production by *B. coagulans* MA-13 using steam-pretreated wheat straw as substrate. Unlike *S. cerevisiae*, *B. coagulans* MA-13 was propagated anaerobically, which prevented the accumulation of acetoin and acetic acid. Instead, lactic acid was produced to regenerate ATP required to cope with hydrolysate-induced stress. As outlined in Chapter 3.1.3, anaerobic growth of *B. coagulans* MA-13 was screened at different wheat straw hydrolysate concentrations. While maximal specific growth rates decreased with increasing hydrolysate concentration, specific lactic acid productivity increased until reaching a maximum at 50% hydrolysate concentration. Beyond this point, inhibitor-induced cell stress decreased lactic acid formation. Hence, under anaerobic growth conditions, specific lactic acid productivity could be used as a proxy for cell stress to identify optimal conditions in the trade-off between microbial growth and adaptation in the propagation phase.

In agreement with previous studies on *S. cerevisiae* (Van Dijk et al., 2019), preadaptation in *B. coagulans* MA-13 improved the volumetric and specific productivities during subsequent fermentation. Propagated in the presence of 30% wheat straw hydrolysate, *B. coagulans* produced lactic acid at a 115% higher average specific productivity within 50% shorter process times in subsequent simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) processes based on wheat straw, compared to non-adapted cells (Table 5). Higher hydrolysate concentrations during preadaptation resulted in reduced cell vitality and, in turn, decreased specific and volumetric lactic acid productivities and increased process times in batch SSF (Table 5). The results point to an optimum hydrolysate concentration for the propagation of *B. coagulans* MA-13.

Table 5: Effect of different hydrolysate concentrations during the propagation of *B. coagulans* MA-13 on lactic acid production in subsequent SSFs. SSFs were conducted anaerobically at 10% WIS, 10 FPU· g_{WIS} -1 of Cellic CTec2, 0.01 g_{Cells} · g_{WIS} -1 of *B. coagulans* MA-13, pH 5.5, and 55 °C on steampretreated wheat straw in 3.6-L BioEtOH double-jacket flat-bottom bioreactors. Pre-hydrolysis was conducted for 30 min prior to SSFs (**Paper III**).

Hydrolysate in propagation [%]	SSF process time [h]	Avg. vol. lactate productivity [g·L ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹]	Avg. spec. lactate productivity [10 ⁻¹¹ g·CFU ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹]
0	30	1.11±0.13	0.52±0.02
30	15	$1.74{\pm}0.11$	1.11 ± 0.07
40	24	1.23	2.06
50	24	1.19 ± 0.01	1.15 ± 0.13

Another interesting observation was the appearance of a lag phase in batch SSFs when the inoculum size was reduced to $0.005 \text{ g}_{\text{Cells}} \cdot \text{g}_{\text{WIS}}^{-1}$. The lag phase lasted 10 h for cells propagated without hydrolysate and 5 h for cells propagated in 40% hydrolysate. For cells propagated in 30% hydrolysate, no lag phase was observed. The lag phase was likely the result of impaired cell replication, as indicated by the decreased colony-forming unit counts. Lower counts can be attributed to higher inhibitor concentrations per cell, resulting in extended cell stress and increased need for detoxification. Again, the results pointed to a maximum hydrolysate concentration above which the effect of inhibitor toxicity outweighed the inhibitor-induced tolerance.

Paper III shows that the concept of preadaptation can be successfully adapted to lactic acid production by *B. coagulans*. Due to the activation of general stress response mechanisms, it seems reasonable to assume a general transferability of preadaptation to improve inhibitor tolerance – although the extent to which it actually happens might vary from strain to strain as shown in yeast (Van Dijk et al., 2019), and from feedstock to feedstock. The ability of a strain to detoxify inhibitors might be crucial in determining the success of preadaptation.

From a process design perspective, preadaptation combines several benefits compared to other detoxification strategies. First, unlike in most detoxification strategies, there is no need to add water, chemicals or other microorganisms. Second, process integration is less complicated for preadaptation than for other detoxification methods as only one additional filtration step is required to separate the hydrolysate from the pretreated slurry. At the same time, the filtration step enables high solid contents during saccharification and fermentation, which is necessary to reach sufficient product titres for efficient downstream processing. Third, preadaptation increases productivity and yields, which typically results in lower capital costs and unit cost of production. However, preadaptation comes at the expense of lower biomass yields during propagation, which must be balanced by higher sugar inputs. Therefore, preadaptation is a trade-off between high biomass yields and high specific growth rates during propagation on the one hand, and an increased inhibitor tolerance resulting in higher productivities during fermentation on the other hand.

4.3 Process configurations for efficient enzymatic hydrolysis and

fermentation

The design of enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation determines, to a large extent, the product formation potential and profitability of biorefineries. Several process configurations have been developed, the most important ones being separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) and SSF. In case of sugar co-fermentation, SHF and SSF are referred to as separate hydrolysis and co-fermentation (SHCF) and SSCF, respectively.

In SH(C)F, enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation are conducted in different vessels, which allows them to proceed at both of their optimal conditions. The temperature optimum of most hydrolytic enzymes is around 50 °C (Singhania et al., 2010), whereas that of most industrially relevant microorganisms, such as *S. cerevisiae* and *E. coli*, ranges around 30–37 °C (Olofsson et al., 2008a). Given that enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation can be operated at optimal conditions, higher enzymatic hydrolysis rates can be generally achieved by SH(C)F. However, the large amounts of glucose and cellobiose released at optimal hydrolysis yields (Hsieh et al., 2014). With improved enzyme cocktails, end-product inhibition has been reduced in SH(C)F (Cannella & Jørgensen, 2014).

In SS(C)F, enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation are performed simultaneously in a single vessel. Monosaccharides released during enzymatic hydrolysis can be directly taken up and metabolised by the microorganism. Hence, glucose concentration in SS(C)F remains fairly low, which reduces end-product inhibition (Olofsson et al., 2008a), lowers the risk of contamination, favours xylose uptake, and promotes glucose and xylose co-consumption (Olofsson et al., 2008a). As a result, xylose conversion yields are typically higher in SSCF than in SHCF. Moreover, the low sugar concentrations in SS(C)Fs can reduce the risk for contaminations. Higher ethanol yields were reached in SSCFs than in SHCFs when xylose-utilising yeast was used (Nielsen et al., 2017; Tomás-Pejó et al., 2008). Furthermore, SS(C)F processes can reduce capital costs by 20% as a single reaction vessel is necessary (Wingren et al., 2003).

The main drawback of SS(C)F is the trade-off between the temperature optima for enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation (Olofsson et al., 2008a). As shown in **Paper I**, enzymatic hydrolysis conducted at 30°C, which corresponds to the optimum temperature of *S. cerevisiae*, reduced enzymatic hydrolysis yields by approximately 20–25%, depending on pretreatment conditions. For ethanol production by *S. cerevisiae* in SS(C)F, temperatures of 32–35 °C are typically applied as a compromise (Olofsson et al., 2008b; Rudolf et al., 2008). Above 35 °C, *S. cerevisiae* is severely inhibited by heat stress which, in combination with lignocellulose-derived inhibitors, can result in stuck fermentation (Westman et al., 2017). One way to resolve the discrepancy between the temperature optima of enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation is to apply thermotolerant organisms such as *B. coagulans* MA-13, a thermophilic strain that grows optimally at 55 °C (Aulitto et al., 2017). With the temperature

optimum of the microorganism matching the one of the applied enzyme mixture Cellic CTec2, both enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation can be performed under optimal conditions. Moreover, running the process at higher temperature reduces the demand for cooling and, thereby, operational costs (Abdel-Banat et al., 2010).

High solid loadings represent an additional challenge to SS(C)F batch processes. For ethanol production, solid loadings of 20%, based on WIS, have been generally regarded high enough to achieve the target titres of >4% (w/w) ethanol (Xiros et al., 2017), which enable costefficient distillation and dehydration (Zacchi & Axelsson, 1989). High solid loadings are of special importance for feedstocks with low carbohydrate content such as logging residues. As shown in Paper II, solid loadings of 15% WIS were too low to achieve final ethanol titres above 4% (w/w), although ethanol yields of 78±2%, based on glucose and xylose theoretically available in the raw material, were reached. Increasing the solid load to 20% improved final ethanol titres above 4% (Figure 8A), while ethanol yields did not change significantly. The ethanol yield⁴ achieved at 20% WIS was only slightly lower compared to published data for batch SSFs which were performed at 10% WIS and 20 FPU·gwis⁻¹ on bark and stem wood mixtures (Frankó et al., 2015) at similar wood-to-bark ratios as found in the logging residues used in Paper II. Furthermore, the achieved ethanol yield of 76±2% was not significantly different to published yields for batch SSFs on 10% WIS spruce stem wood (Hoyer et al., 2009). In accordance with previous publications on SSCF using spruce stem wood (Hoyer et al., 2009), in batch SSCF at 20% WIS yeast viability declined over time (Figure 8A), which limited batch SSCF performance at high solid contents.



Figure 8: Effect of process configuration on ethanol production by *S. cerevisiae* KE6-12A from steam-pretreated logging residues. (A) Time-courses of duplicate batch SSCFs. (B) Time-courses of duplicate model-based multi-feed SSCFs. Glucose, xylose, xylitol, ethanol, and WIS concentrations are plotted over time. SSCF processes were performed at cumulative WIS loadings of 20% and enzyme loadings of 10 FPU·g_{WIS}⁻¹, controlled at 35 °C and pH 5.2. The experimental conditions are further detailed in **Paper II**.

⁴ Note: The basis of yield calculation was changed for results in **Paper II** from glucose and xylose theoretically available in the raw material to glucose and mannose to aid comparability between the studies

Batch SS(C)F processes at high solid loadings are prone to inhomogeneities arising from the low solubility of lignocellulosic solids, especially in the initial phase (Koppram et al., 2014). Inhomogeneities, often observed as phase separation between liquids and solids, can hinder heat and mass transfer, with detrimental effects on enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation. Moreover, inhomogeneities can impair process monitoring and control due to pH and temperature gradients (Koppram et al., 2014). These challenges are typically resolved by the increasing liquefaction in the course of enzymatic hydrolysis, which decreases viscosity. Hence, one of the primary goals in the design of SS(C)F processes is to reach rapid liquefaction of the lignocellulosic medium to obtain full process control and ensure proper and prolonged mixability.

Several fed-batch strategies have been developed with the aim of ensuring efficient mass transfer and coping with the slow liquefaction of lignocellulosic materials. Their unifying element is the addition of solids throughout the process to keep the actual solid loading below a predetermined threshold, while achieving high cumulative solid loadings (Olofsson et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2016). In this way, permanent mixability is ensured. The low glucose concentrations caused by the solid feedings benefit xylose co-consumption. The addition of enzymes, cells or combinations thereof with solids has been realised in multi-feed processes to maintain high hydrolysis rates and cell viability. To rationalise the additions in fed-batch SSCFs, model-based feeding strategies using feed-forward control have been developed and applied to pretreated birch stem wood, wheat straw, and sugarcane bagasse at laboratory and demonstration scale (Unrean et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2016; Westman et al., 2017). Macro-kinetic models were used to predict viable cell concentrations, cellulose conversion, actual WIS loadings, and ethanol concentrations. The predictions were used to design solid and cell additions.

In Paper II, a similar multi-feed SSCF strategy was developed to reach a cumulative solid loading of 20%. Instead of a full kinetic model predicting the interplay between enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation (Wang et al., 2016), a hydrolysis model was used for solid additions. The model was a hybrid between steady-state statistical Black Box modelling in the form of RSMs and dynamic models to capture the dynamics of the enzymatic hydrolysis process (Figure 9). RSMs predicting the effect of solid and enzyme loadings during the course of hydrolysis were established and linked to second-order exponential decay models. The latter reflect the two phases of enzymatic hydrolysis: initial rapid hydrolysis and rateretardation towards a linear hydrolysis pattern (Arantes & Saddler, 2011). To account for their predictive uncertainty, RSMs were weighed by their standard error in prediction to fit the exponential decay models. The hydrolysis model was used to predict hydrolysis yields and rates as function of time, enzyme load, and WIS. By implementing the modelling approach with a combination of RSMs and second-order exponential decay models, only a few experiments based on a DoE strategy without prior knowledge of hydrolysis kinetics were necessary to establish a hydrolysis model for a complex, heterogeneous, and uncharted substrate such as logging residues.

Instead of the hydrolysis yield, which was used in previous publications as a criterion for solid feedings (Wang et al., 2016; Westman et al., 2017), here, the hydrolysis rate was used as a criterion to keep liquefaction at high levels. Therefore, solids were fed to a predetermined maximum solid concentration, when the hydrolysis rate was half-maximal, which coincided with the transition from rapid hydrolysis to the rate-retardation phase. However, the biochemical composition of logging residues hampered a consistent feed design. Due to their low carbohydrate content, non-hydrolysable solids accumulated over time, resulting in more frequent but smaller solid additions over time. Eventually, planned additions would exceed pre-set process time limits. Feeding substrate at later process times would result in an incomplete hydrolysis. Consequently, solids were fed according to modelbased feeding trajectories in the first half of the process. The remaining solids were added with the last solid addition within 60 h, thereby exceeding the experimentally determined maximum solid load and risking to temporally decrease mixability (Figure 8B). To increase cell viability, 95% of the total cells were added in proportion to the hydrolysate fraction within the first 60 h, whereas the remaining 5% were added at 72 h to promote continued fermentation and limit the loss in cell viability observed in multi-feed processes over time (Wang et al., 2014).



Figure 9: Multi-feed model development. The modelling strategy is exemplified for an enzymatic hydrolysis at 10 FPU· g_{WIS} ⁻¹ and 10% WIS. The RSMs were established to predict hydrolysis yields based on glucan, indicated by black dots on the response surfaces, as function of enzyme and WIS load. The hydrolysis yields were combined in a second-order exponential decay model (red curve) describing the progression of hydrolysis yields over time. Prediction uncertainties of the RSMs were incorporated in model fits by weighting each RSM by its standard error in prediction. The red area around the red curve shows the 95% confidence interval around the mean for the example (**Paper II**).

Compared to batch processes, the multi-feed strategy resulted in significantly lower ethanol titres and yields (Figure 8B). Final ethanol titres remained below the minimum requirement for efficient distillation. To be competitive with batch processes, the multi-feed design needs improvements in the following areas:

(1) Yeast viability at the later stages of fermentation.

Yeast viability dropped after 54 h following the last, large solid addition after as indicated by immediate glucose and xylose accumulation. The addition of yeast cells at 72 h to sustain viability had only a minor benefit, which is in accordance with previous results on wheat straw (Westman et al., 2017). A possible solution, applied successfully to multi-feed SSCFs on wheat straw, is to lower the temperature to alleviate temperature-induced stress (Westman et al., 2017).

(2) Xylose conversion.

High hydrolysis rates required for rapid liquefaction result in high glucose concentrations, which prevent xylose uptake. Rapid liquefaction is necessary to gain proper process control, especially for logging residues with their high lignin content. Thus, xylose should be utilised ahead of multi-feed SSCF in a pre-fermentation step, previously shown to improve xylose utilisation in fed-batch schemes (Nielsen et al., 2017).

With these improvements, the multi-feed strategy could potentially outperform batch SSCF processes. However, the current design favours batch processes for logging residues despite the challenges they pose.

4.4 Effect of mixed feedstocks on enzymatic hydrolysis and

fermentation

The main disadvantage of logging residues is their low carbohydrate content, which creates multiple problems in process design and performance. These include the difficulty to design feeding schemes ensuring proper mixability in multi-feed SSCF, slow liquefaction due to impaired enzymatic hydrolysis, and the need to conduct SSCF at high solid loadings to achieve sufficient product titres. In **Paper II**, upgrading low-carbohydrate logging residues with carbohydrate-rich oat hulls was investigated.

The concept of upgrading the carbohydrate content by feedstock mixing has been applied mainly to mixtures of lignocellulosic material with first-generation feedstocks, in so-called 1.5G bioethanol production (Erdei et al., 2010; Erdei et al., 2013; Persson et al., 2020; Xu & Wang, 2017). Upgrading the carbohydrate content can improve final ethanol titres and, in turn, reduce downstream processing costs (Joelsson et al., 2016). In several cases, positive synergistic effects of mixed feedstocks on ethanol yields have been shown, further improving process economics (Persson et al., 2020; Xu & Wang, 2017). In **Paper II**, a weak

synergistic effect was shown for the enzymatic hydrolysis of oat hulls and logging residues, alleviating their recalcitrance. Oat hull addition at a 1:3 ratio in batch SSCF and at 20% solid loadings resulted in ethanol titres above 50 g·L⁻¹ at technical yields, which did not differ significantly from batch SSCFs on logging residues only (Figure 10A).

The high ethanol titres reached upon substrate upgrading demonstrate the potential of oat hull addition in reducing unit production costs. Furthermore, increased final ethanol titres can lower the requirement to run processes at high solid loadings. The main bottleneck in SSCF containing oat hulls was xylose utilisation. Due to the elevated cellulose content of oat hulls, glucose-limited conditions were reached later than for SSCF on logging residues only. However, in the later process stages xylose utilisation typically declines (Nielsen et al., 2017; Olofsson et al., 2010), possibly due to an overall decreased cell viability caused by prolonged exposure to inhibitors (Nielsen et al., 2017) or the fermentation-dependent formation of compounds specifically inhibiting the XR/XDH pathway (Olofsson et al., 2010).

The high carbohydrate content and low recalcitrance of oat hulls was beneficial for the design of multi-feed SSCFs. In contrast to logging residues, the high amount of degradable solids in oat hulls enabled a feasible solid feeding strategy. However, the high residual glucose and xylose concentrations in multi-feed SSCFs on oat hulls and logging residues (Figure 10B) imply a strong inhibitory effect leading to partial yeast inactivation. The latter is explained by the higher initial concentrations of inhibitors, such as acetic acid and furfural, in the oat hull hydrolysate. Due to partial cell inactivation early in the multi-feed process, the cells were sensitive to further solid additions, resulting in compromised process robustness and, in turn, lower ethanol titres and yields compared to batch processes (Figure 8B).



Figure 10: Effect of process configuration on ethanol production by *S. cerevisiae* KE6-12A from steam-pretreated logging residues mixed with oat hulls at a 1:3 ratio. (A) Time-courses of duplicate batch SSCFs. (B) Time-courses of duplicate model-based multi-feed SSCFs. Glucose, xylose, xylitol, ethanol, and WIS concentrations are plotted over time. SSCF processes were performed at cumulative WIS loadings of 20% and enzyme loadings of 10 FPU·g_{WIS}-1, controlled at 35 °C and pH 5.2. The experimental conditions are further detailed in Paper II.

One way to improve the multi-feed design is to start the process with logging residues and feed oat hulls gradually together with logging residues. The slower glucose release from logging residues could reduce initial glucose concentrations and, thus, result in improved xylose utilisation. Furthermore, the lower inhibitor concentrations in logging residue hydrolysate could improve yeast viability. Despite a possible higher inhibition effect at later process stages, originating from the synergistic action of ethanol and acetic acid from oat hull hydrolysate, this strategy has the potential to improve ethanol titres and yields in multi-feed SSCF.

In conclusion, upgrading the low carbohydrate content of logging residues with oat hulls in batch SSCF improved ethanol titres and may lower operational costs. Improved xylose fermentation would allow the full carbohydrate potential of oat hulls to be exploited, possibly further increasing both ethanol titres and yields.

The mixing of feedstocks has wide implications on biorefineries. From a supply perspective, it decreases supply risks. Biorefineries operating at industrial scale require large amounts of feedstock to reach an economy of scale. Postulated feedstock demands vary between 2000–5000 metric tons per day (Argo et al., 2013; Humbird et al., 2011). As discussed in Chapter 2.2, seasonal and geographic variability can lead to supply chain risks, which translate into economic risks (Golecha & Gan, 2016a). Feedstock mixing, preferably of similar materials, has been described as a suitable option to ensure a secure feedstock supply and hedge risks arising from feedstock price volatility (Golecha & Gan, 2016b). Furthermore, feedstock mixing can address a dilemma faced by industrial-scale biorefineries. On the one hand, transport distances and costs increase with biorefinery size, resulting in a diseconomy of scale (Richard, 2010); on the other hand, large-scale biorefineries are required to reach economically feasible bioconversion processes for inexpensive bulk products such as platform chemicals. Feedstock mixing can reduce transport distances and, thus, improve the economy of biorefineries.

The benefits of supply chains relying on multiple feedstocks can be increased when integrating processes based on multiple feedstocks into existing infrastructure. In the case of oat hulls this implies integration with oat mills; in the case of mixing first with second-generation feedstocks, it involves biorefineries already using first-generation feedstocks. The choice of mixable feedstocks has implications on pretreatment. Feedstocks with similar characteristics can be pretreated together, which reduces capital costs compared to two separate pretreatment units (Nielsen et al., 2019). Even for feedstocks with very different composition, common pretreatment can be beneficial when synergies between the two become advantageous, *e.g.* acetic acid released from herbaceous biomass aids hemicellulose solubilisation of woody biomass (Vera et al., 2015). Nonetheless, most simultaneous pretreatments will result in a trade-off scenario, which must be carefully evaluated in terms of drawbacks, such as lower product formation rates or yields (Oke et al., 2016).

Another advantage of mixed feedstocks is the possibility to generate value-added coproducts. In the case of oat hulls mixed with logging residues (Paper II), biogas and electricity can be produced. The xylose-rich oat hull hydrolysate could be further valorised to produce other value-added compounds, including furfural or xylitol. This type of coproduction could increase the profitability of biorefineries. In summary, feedstock mixing can overcome limitations imposed by an unfavourable biochemical composition of a feedstock and benefit product formation. Additional benefits include a safer supply chain and increased ability for co-product generation. Still, mixing different feedstocks necessitates case-to-case evaluation because of potential trade-offs in pretreatment and fermentation strategies, which could lower process yields and increase operational costs.

5 Assessment of process designs for lignocellulose-based biorefineries

5.1 Modelling of simultaneous saccharification and fermentation: From hydrolysis modelling to life cycle assessment

Biorefineries are envisaged to play a key role in the transition from fossil fuels to renewable resources. To fill this role, biorefineries must simultaneously meet technical, economic, and environmental goals. Ideally, they should be capable of rapidly converting biomass into products at high yields, be profitable, and benefit the environment. The performance of SS(C)F processes and their impact on biorefinery systems have been typically assessed along these goals to guide process development. Mathematical models at various system levels have been established to formalise process knowledge, quantitatively assess SS(C)F process performance, and guide their design through rational optimisation (Figure 11).

At bioreactor scale, hydrolysis models have been established to formalise knowledge on hydrolysis kinetics, reveal the mechanisms governing any synergisms and hydrolysis rate reduction, as well as optimise hydrolysis conditions with respect to pH, temperature, and solid loadings (Bansal et al., 2009) (Figure 11). Besides empirical models in the form of RSMs (*e.g.* those developed in **Paper II**), numerous mechanistic models have been developed to predict hydrolysis dynamics and the interaction of hydrolytic enzymes with their substrates. A representative model, which serves as the basis for several other hydrolysis models (Angarita et al., 2015; Hodge et al., 2009; Prunescu & Sin, 2013), was developed by Kadam et al. (2004). Although several model parameters were unidentifiable (Sin et al., 2010), its simplicity made the model, either in its original form or with reduced parameter subsets, useful for SS(C)F process design.



Figure 11: Assessment of SS(C)F performance at different system scales. The system scales range from hydrolysis kinetics at bioreactor scale to LCA at global scale. Technical assessments range from bioreactor to factory scale (blue bar); whereas economic and environmental assessments range from factory to global scale (brown and green bars, respectively). Economic and environmental assessments can be extended to bioreactor scale (light brown and light green bar).

Typical for most mechanistic enzymatic hydrolysis models, Kadam et al. (2004) modelled enzyme adsorption by Langmuir isotherms as shown in **equation 1**:

$$c_{EB} = \frac{E_{max} \cdot k_{ad} \cdot c_{EF} \cdot c_S}{1 + k_{ad} \cdot c_{EF}} \tag{1}$$

where c_{EB} is the bound enzyme concentration, E_{max} is the maximum amount of enzyme that can adsorb to the solids, k_{ad} is the dissociation constant for enzyme adsorption, c_{EF} is the concentration of enzyme free in solution, and c_S is the substrate concentration. Although the underlying assumptions such as homogenous binding sites over time, are not met in reality, Langmuir isotherms are frequently used as mathematical expression providing a good fit to experimental data (Bansal et al., 2009). In **Paper IV**, the enzymatic hydrolysis model described enzyme adsorption by second-order adsorption kinetics, with a dynamic adsorption equilibrium accounting for changes in adsorption and substrate characteristics over time (Wang et al., 2014).

Hydrolysis reaction rates including end-product inhibition are usually modelled by Michaelis-Menten kinetics with competitive monosaccharide inhibition (Kadam et al., 2004) as described in **equation 2**:

$$r_H = \frac{k_R \cdot c_E \cdot c_S}{1 + \frac{c_{SP}}{K_{SP}}} \tag{2}$$

Where r_H is the hydrolysis reaction rate, k_R is the reaction rate constant, c_E is the enzyme concentration, c_S is the substrate concentration, c_{SP} is the concentration of the resulting sugar product, and K_{SP} is the inhibition constant. The temperature-dependency of reaction rate constants is typically modelled using the Arrhenius equation for temperature dependency as presented in **equation 3**:

$$k_R = c \cdot e^{\frac{-E_A}{R \cdot T}} \tag{3}$$

Where k_R is the reaction rate constant, c is a pre-exponential coefficient, E_A is the activation energy, R is the universal gas constant, and T is the temperature. Although the underlying assumptions, especially homogenous catalysis in a single phase, are not met for enzymatic hydrolysis processes, models using the Arrhenius equation generally display a good fit and are widely employed. Hydrolysis models have been applied to predict hydrolysis dynamics, optimise enzyme cocktails (Niu et al., 2016), and predict solid additions in fed-batch hydrolysis processes (Hodge et al., 2009).

Kinetic enzymatic hydrolysis models are typically combined with fermentation kinetics in mechanistic SS(C)F bioprocess models (Figure 11). Mechanistic SS(C)F models describe the dynamic mass balances of SS(C)F processes in a set of ordinary differential equations, and are numerically solved in MATLAB or Python (Zhuang et al., 2013). The general structure of these mechanistic models is presented in **equation 4**:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = f(x(t), t, \theta); y(t) = g(x(t)); x(t_0) = x_0$$
(4)

Where x(t) are the state variables, t is the process time, Θ are the model parameters, and y(t) are the model outputs. Besides hydrolysis and fermentation kinetics, population balance models (Wang et al., 2014) and dynamic flux balance models (Unrean et al., 2016) have also been integrated into SS(C)F process models. The main outputs of SS(C)F process models are cellulose, glucose, ethanol, and biomass concentrations over time.

The integration of hydrolysis and fermentation kinetics into dynamic mass balance models is important to accurately describe the intertwined dynamics between these two processes such as the decreased glucose inhibition caused by simultaneous sugar uptake by fermentative microorganisms (Wang et al., 2014). SS(C)F process models have been used to gain insights into the interplay between enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation (Westman et al., 2017) and guide the design of SSCF processes, for example, of model-based feeding trajectories in multi-feed SSCFs (Wang et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2016).

For plant-wide modelling of biorefineries, a host of flowsheet models has been established (Chovau et al., 2013; Gnansounou & Dauriat, 2010). Developed in SuperPro Designer, Aspen Plus, or CHEMCAD, these models assess entire biorefineries and solve mass balances for all unit processes and operations (Zhuang et al., 2013) (Figure 11). In contrast to bioprocess models, flowsheet models are evaluated at steady-state conditions. The main outputs of flowsheet models are the overall mass balances, and the demand for heat and energy in each process step. Therefore, flowsheet models are used to identify potential targets for process integration (Fornell & Berntsson, 2012; Joelsson et al., 2015; Ojeda et al., 2011). For example, in **Paper IV**, the steam generated in the boiler from the combustion of solids leftover from fermentation and anaerobic digestion is used for steam pretreatment.

Usually, plant-wide flowsheet models are combined with global-scale economic models in TEAs (Figure 11). The main outputs of such economic analyses are minimal product selling prices, net present values, and internal rates of return (Cheali et al., 2016). TEAs and flowsheet models have been widely applied in lignocellulosic process development to identify bottlenecks in process integration and economics (Gnansounou & Dauriat, 2010), devise economically feasible process configurations (Olofsson et al., 2017), as well as to compare different biorefineries regarding processed feedstocks (Duque et al., 2015; Frankó et al., 2016) and co-products (Joelsson et al., 2016). The latter is particularly important in the context of lignocellulosic biorefineries, as production of platform chemicals alone will likely not result in profitable biorefinery processes (Rosales-Calderon & Arantes, 2019).

The environmental impact of biorefineries and different process configurations are studied at global scale in LCAs (Figure 11). To compare the effects of different process configurations and designs on environmental impact categories, attributional LCAs are typically conducted. They focus on a description of the environmentally relevant physical flows from and to a life cycle system and its subsystems (Finnveden et al., 2009). Therefore, environmental burdens are allocated (e.g. between different products) by partitioning the environmental burden based on physical, chemical or economic causes (Finnveden et al., 2009). The impact of different process designs is usually investigated in cradle-to-gate LCAs, in which the product life cycle is assessed from feedstock growth to the product leaving the biorefinery (Borrion et al., 2012). Some LCAs on bioethanol also included the use phase, resulting in cradle-to-grave LCAs (González-García et al., 2012; Rajagopalan et al., 2017). Typical functional units used to compare different process strategies in cradle-togate LCAs of biorefineries are kg or L of generated product (Borrion et al., 2012). LCA outputs encompass the assessed impact categories, which include the climate impact, eutrophication and acidification potential, and ecotoxicity, all of which are relative to the functional unit. LCAs have been used to study the environmental impact of lignocellulosebased biorefineries and their different process designs (Janssen et al., 2014; Janssen et al., 2016; Spatari et al., 2010). Accordingly, off-site enzyme production was identified as a major contributor to the climate impact of lignocellulose-based ethanol biorefineries (Olofsson et al., 2017), and ethanol yield as the key variable affecting all impact categories in LCAs for ethylene production from woody biomass (Liptow et al., 2013).

5.2 Multi-scale models as tools for consistent biorefinery assessment

across system scales

Biorefineries are highly complex systems, in which unit processes and operations are highly intertwined at several system scales. For example, changes in pretreatment conditions can lead to different inhibitor concentrations, as shown in **Paper I**, which in turn can affect bioprocess dynamics and product formation rates. Ultimately, these may impact the downstream process chain, and, possibly, process economics and environmental impact. Thus, all three dimensions for biorefinery assessment, *i.e.* technical, economic, and environmental, can be affected by changes in a single process step or process input. Consequently, models should assess the effects of changes in unit processes and operations on all three dimensions by integrating multiple models at several system scales.

Multi-scale models fill this role as they connect models from different scales to enable a multi-dimensional process assessment. They have been widely applied in biotechnology, mainly to link dynamic flux balance analysis to bioprocess models (Pornkamol & Franzén, 2015; Zhuang & Herrgård, 2015), population balance models with bioprocess models (Heins et al., 2015), and computational fluid dynamics with bioprocess modelling (Fernandes et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2015). So far, integration of biorefinery models has focused mainly on the combination of TEAs and LCAs, and the integration of bioprocess models into flowsheets. Integrating dynamic bioprocess models into TEAs has been used to study process dynamics in flowsheet models, which are normally evaluated under steady-state conditions (Morales-Rodriguez et al., 2011, 2012). These coupled models have been used to assess and optimise different process configurations with process scheduling (Morales-Rodriguez et al., 2011), as well as to identify uncertain model parameters and quantify their effect on biorefineries using global sensitivity analysis (Morales-Rodriguez et al., 2012). Furthermore, TEA and LCA have been combined to compare both economics and environmental impacts for different process configurations (Kadhum et al., 2018; Olofsson et al., 2017; Tao et al., 2014).

However, only a few multi-scale models spanning many system scales have been implemented. They targeted mostly the integration of dynamic flux balance models into dynamic bioprocess models, which were in turn integrated into flowsheet models (Ploch et al., 2019) or into flowsheet models coupled with economic network models (Zhuang & Herrgård, 2015). Their ultimate goal was to identify targets for metabolic engineering and to understand intracellular dynamics during bioprocesses.

In **Paper IV**, a multi-scale model was developed by connecting a previously existing SS(C)F process model with a flowsheet model, TEA, and LCA. The SS(C)F process model was a refinement of an existing model describing the hydrolysis of steam-pretreated wheat straw and fermentation to ethanol (Wang et al., 2016). The flowsheet model and TEA were developed to describe a wheat straw-based biorefinery with ethanol as main product and biogas and electricity as co-products. The cradle-to-gate attributional LCA described the

biorefinery process from wheat straw production to ethanol leaving the plant. The developed multi-scale model has several benefits.

First, it allows the incorporation of SSCF process dynamics into flowsheet models via timedependent yields and yearly flow rates. Accordingly, the effects of bioprocess dynamics can be evaluated with respect to all three dimensions of biorefinery assessment, which enables a thorough investigation of different process configurations (Figure 11). Compared to previous integrations of dynamic process models into flowsheets (Morales-Rodriguez et al., 2011, 2012), the approach described in **Paper IV** focuses on the effects of bioprocess dynamics. Introduction of, for example, scheduling and dynamics of other unit processes and operations will further improve the multi-scale model and can highlight important bottlenecks in plant design, especially when operating on multiple feedstocks, as investigated in **Paper II**.

Second, both TEA and LCA benefit from model integration with more detailed datasets. This is especially important for attributional LCAs, whereby allocations between different products could be avoided thanks to the provided flowsheet data. Because the basis for allocation is to some extent subjective, as when determining whether they should be performed based on expected economic value, physical flow or other measures, allocations are typically prone to controversies. Hence, model integration augments the validity of LCA studies by removing causes for subjective interpretation. For example, in **Paper IV**, allocations on product distributions by partitioning the environmental burden based on economic value were avoided thanks to the provided mass flows from flowsheet modelling.

Third, the multi-scale model enables a holistic process assessment and, in turn, multiobjective optimisation procedures and uncertainty or variability assessments. Uncertainty and variability analyses are inevitable in the context of lignocellulose biorefineries. Several publications have reported considerable variability of feedstock composition for corn stover (Kenney et al., 2013; Ray et al., 2020; Templeton et al., 2009), wheat straw (Collins et al., 2014; Kenney et al., 2013), and *Miscanthus* (Kenney et al., 2013). In case of bioethanol production, compositional variability can lead to significant differences in ethanol yields (Kenney et al., 2013; Ruth & Thomas, 2003) and minimum selling prices (Ruth & Thomas, 2003). Hence, variations in feedstock composition, process parameters, amounts of added hydrolytic enzyme or other process inputs can have significant effects on bioprocess outcomes and propagate through system scales.

In **Paper IV**, a multi-scale variability analysis framework was developed, in which published or laboratory data were applied to obtain the variability in one or more process inputs and propagate it through the multi-scale model. The variability, either in the form of raw data or sampling data from a fitted distribution, was directly propagated through the bioprocess model (Figure 12). The application of an automated stop criterion based on product formation rate resulted in the spreading of product yields and process times. The results were analysed in terms mean, median, maximum, minimum, 5th, 25th, 50th, 75th, and 95th percentiles, which were then transferred to the flowsheet scale. The mass balances from

flowsheet modelling, together with information on the process flows (*e.g.* the distribution between products), were used as inputs for attributional cradle-to-gate LCA. The model outputs at each scale, such as process yields, energy demand, internal rate of return, and climate impact, were assessed via data analysis and used to calculate the variation in the performance indicators across scales (Figure 12).

The multi-scale variability analysis framework was applied in a case study to determine the effect of reported variability in activity of the commercially available hydrolytic enzyme cocktail Cellic CTec2 on the robustness of performance indicators at multiple system scales for batch and multi-feed processes in a wheat straw-based biorefinery. Despite concerns about the irreproducibility of the filter paper assay to assess total cellulolytic activity (Dashtban et al., 2010), filter paper units are still the prevalent approach to report enzyme loads in SS(C)F. Failure to accurately quantify the enzymatic activity can lead to impaired process design or prevent the comparison of process designs among different studies.



Figure 12: Illustration of the multi-scale variability analysis framework. Literature or laboratory data on the variability of process inputs are either direct input to the multi-scale model or are used for distribution fitting and Monte-Carlo sampling from the distribution. Variability/uncertainty is propagated through the multi-scale model, which consists of a bioprocess model in MATLAB, a flowsheet model in SuperPro Designer, and LCA in openLCA. The model outputs are used for data analysis and can be employed to pinpoint bottlenecks in process design (**Paper IV**).

Therefore, reported enzyme activities, expressed as filter paper units per mL, were used as inputs in the multi-scale variability analysis framework. When assessing median values, the differences between bioprocess, economic, and environmental performance indicators were insignificant except for the internal rate of return and payback time. In both metrics, multi-feed processes performed slightly better than batch processes, which can be attributed to the lower capital costs of the former. Compared to batch processes, multi-feed processes benefit from lower flow rates due to higher ethanol titres, which in turn result from higher solid loadings.

Contrary to the experimental observations on logging residues and oat hulls in Paper II, the variation in performance indicators of multi-feed processes was at least 50% lower at all system scales compared to batch processes. Hence, the results showed that under the investigated conditions, multi-feed processes were more robust to varying enzymatic activities than batch processes. The lower spread under multi-feed conditions resulted from the lower spread in ethanol yields and process times. Furthermore, counteracting enzymatic variability by adjustments in enzyme loads reduced the variation in process economics, but significantly increased the variability in climate impact (Paper IV). Moreover, the study revealed the potential to meet both economic and environmental goals by choosing the right process design; in the investigated case, this would be using multi-feed processes and the same enzyme loads despite different activities. Hence, multi-scale variability analysis can be applied to investigate the robustness to input variations of different process configurations at multiple system levels. Such approach allows stakeholders to choose process designs, in which technical, economic, and environmental goals align, and performance parameters can be reliably estimated. This is especially important for biorefineries, in which several process inputs, such as feedstock composition and quantity, are subject to natural variation as is the entire process chain.

In conclusion, multi-scale models enable the assessment of biorefinery processes from a holistic perspective by integrating technical, economic, and environmental impact metrics. The detailed information passed from one system scale sub-model to another improves modelling procedures because estimates and assumptions (*e.g.* on allocation) are replaced by calculated variables from lower system scales. The multi-scale variability analysis framework, developed in **Paper IV**, offers an efficient tool to identify process bottlenecks with regard to varying process inputs. As shown by the example of varying enzymatic activities, process design can be used to suppress, at least to a certain extent, the propagation of input variations through the biorefinery system. The holistic approach of multi-scale modelling can help determine the potential to align technical, economic, and environmental goals through process design.

6 Conclusions and outlook

6.1 Conclusions

In this thesis, process designs and assessments were developed to improve the performance of lignocellulose-based biorefineries for platform chemical production from agricultural and forestry residues and, thereby, advance towards cost-competitiveness with platform chemicals produced from first-generation feedstocks or fossil fuels.

In **Papers I** and **II**, the possibility to utilise logging residues as a presently underutilised and inexpensive source of biomass for bioethanol production was explored to *expand the feedstock base of biorefineries*. However, it was shown that the elevated potential supply of logging residues came at the cost of an unfavourable chemical composition. The inherent heterogeneity of logging residues, combined with their low carbohydrate and high lignin content, resulted in high recalcitrance to enzymatic hydrolysis. Optimisation of H₂SO₄catalysed steam pretreatment in **Paper I** efficiently reduced such recalcitrance and resulted in hydrolysis yields at par with published ones on spruce stem wood. Optimal conditions included lower pretreatment temperatures than for spruce stem wood, showing the need to *tailor pretreatment* to novel feedstocks. Under these conditions, inhibitor formation was repressed, while high sugar concentrations were recovered in the liquid phase. Thus, the sweet spot was a trade-off between fermentability and hydrolysability.

Low biomass carbohydrate content calls for high solid loadings during SSCF to achieve sufficient product titres and ensure cost-effective downstream processing. *Mixing in carbohydrate-rich oat hulls to upgrade the low carbohydrate content of logging residues*, as was done in **Paper II**, significantly increased final ethanol titres to above 50 g·L⁻¹ in batch cultivations at 20% solid loadings. This strategy offered an opportunity to decrease separation and purification costs. Alternatively, to improve mixability and process control in batch SSCFs, solid loadings could be decreased, as current model-based multi-feed designs were unable to improve ethanol titres. Furthermore, enzymatic hydrolysis benefitted

from a weak synergistic effect between the two substrates. The utilisation of two feedstocks in a biorefinery concept can facilitate co-product generation and decrease supply chain risks.

An imminent challenge of lignocellulose-based conversion processes is represented by the inhibitors generated during pretreatment even under optimal conditions, as shown in **Paper I**. Inhibitors can decrease both product formation rates and titres with detrimental effects on overall process performance. In **Paper III**, the concept of *preadaptation*, in which cells were exposed to lignocellulose-derived inhibitors in the form of hydrolysate during cell propagation, was successfully *transferred from ethanol production by S. cerevisiae to lactic acid production by B. coagulans*, suggesting the general applicability of preadaptation. By preadapting *B. coagulans* cells with 30% hydrolysate, volumetric lactic acid productivity was increased by 50%, while process time was shortened by 50%. Accordingly, preadaptation offers another possibility to decrease operational costs in lignocellulose-based biorefineries.

Lignocellulose-based biorefineries are evaluated not only by their economics. In fact, technical, economic, and environmental goals must be met simultaneously. To allow such a holistic assessment, multi-scale modelling was used in **Paper IV**, combining a bioprocess model with flowsheet modelling, TEA, and LCA. The *multi-scale variability analysis framework* enables the comparison between different process designs in terms of their robustness to variations in process inputs. In a case study, multi-feed SSCF processes were shown to be more robust than batch processes against fluctuations in enzyme activity. With the holistic assessment of biorefineries and their input variations, multi-scale variability analysis provides a tool to identify promising process configurations capable of aligning technical, economic, and environmental goals.

The results of my thesis show that the suitability of novel feedstocks for biorefineries and the identification of bottlenecks associated with these feedstocks requires an assessment on a case-to-case basis. The main bottlenecks for logging residues were their low carbohydrate content and high recalcitrance; whereas the main hurdle for the conversion of oat hulls was toxicity of the pretreated hydrolysates and low potential supply. Knowing the individual bottlenecks, some hurdles can be mitigated through process design by: Optimised pretreatment to reduce recalcitrance, preadaptation to alleviate the effects of lignocellulose-derived inhibitors, or substrate upgrading to compensate for low carbohydrate contents. Still, process design cannot solve all problems associated with lignocellulosic feedstocks. In particular, residual biomass is characterised by a high natural variation originating from feedstock heterogeneity and harvest practices. The developed multi-scale variability analysis framework provides an effective tool to assess the impact of such variations on biorefineries and can thus be used to choose process designs best suited to address these variations, instead of developing a dedicated process strategy.

6.2 Outlook

The concept of lignocellulose-based biorefineries to produce fuels and chemicals has been widely investigated over the past two decades. Still, further improvements are required to ensure a wide application of lignocellulose-based biorefineries, especially for the production of low-value platform chemicals, such as ethanol and lactic acid.

The need to introduce inexpensive, underutilised feedstocks such as logging residues for low-value chemical production by biorefineries will increase as more biomass is used to reach the planned climate objectives, *e.g.*, for the direct production of speciality chemicals, heat and power generation, or the production of novel materials. The developed multi-scale variability analysis could serve as an important tool to holistically assess process robustness and the robustness of performance indicators in response to variability of these novel feedstocks. The framework should be further automated to enable a simultaneous assessment and comparison of various potential feedstocks and process configurations, *e.g.* by automating pinch analysis via mixed-integer linear programming (Celebi et al., 2017).

In forest-rich regions such as the Nordic countries, residues from forestry practice and industry, including logging residues, saw dust, industrial bark, and wood shavings, will become more important as feedstocks for biorefineries to generate additional value for forest owners and the industry, while also meeting climate objectives. Although the potential supply is large, further research will be required to enable stable processing of these heterogeneous feedstocks in a biorefinery context. In case of logging residues, future studies should target the contribution of the different anatomical fractions to enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation. Accordingly, potential bottlenecks in the process could be related to these fractions and cost-efficient pre-processing of logging residues could be suggested, either within forestry practice or in the biorefinery. Moreover, SSCF processes must be designed to operate on logging residues at solid loadings above 20%.

Multi-feedstock biorefineries are a promising avenue towards aligned economic and environmental goals. The utilisation of several feedstocks can decrease supply chain risks, as well as the risks related to large monocultures and their detrimental effects on biodiversity. Moreover, by relying on several feedstocks, biorefineries may be established in areas, in which a single feedstock cannot be reliably supplied. The growing interest in mixed feedstocks could provide interesting insights into the hydrolysis and fermentation dynamics of such substrates. Details about any synergistic effects could unveil the underlying mechanisms, which can be applied for rational process optimisation. Hydrolysis and fermentation designs must be further developed to optimally utilise mixed feedstocks, while meeting economic and environmental targets in up- and downstream unit processes. In case of oat hull/logging residue mixtures the process designs in **Paper II** should be further improved to stimulate xylose co-consumption through, for example, pre-fermentation. An important question regarding the process design and optimisation is whether pretreatment and bioconversion should be tailored to the different feedstocks to maximise conversion efficiency or be designed to be as robust as possible to maximise process stability. In this context, the acetic acid formed by oat hulls during pretreatment might be used to reduce the demand for acid catalyst during a combined pretreatment with logging residues. Regarding the inhibitors generated during pretreatment, future studies should be directed to the underlying mechanisms of preadaptation, *e.g.* to find markers for the monitoring of preadaptation or to identify the optimal trade-off between biomass production and preadaptation.

The utilisation of oat hulls in **Paper II** pointed at the importance of the location as another factor in biorefinery development as oat hulls are a by-product of oat mills. The evolving utilisation of industrial biomass by-product streams, such as oat hulls or bark, favours the integration of biorefinery units directly at the source of those by-products. Compared to feedstocks extracted directly from fields and forests, these by-products typically underwent some form of pre-processing and are therefore more homogeneous, and their characteristics are more predictable and controllable. Using by-product streams, which are presently considered waste, could be a strong incentive to develop local biorefineries which, due to their integration with other processes, might not need the size of stand-alone biorefineries to become profitable.

In the context of lignocellulose-based biorefineries for platform chemical (*e.g.* ethanol and lactic acid) production, further processing is of utmost importance. Not all compounds derived from bio-based platform chemicals can be produced in a cost-competitive way when compared to their fossil fuel-based counterparts. The production of ethylene from bioethanol, for example, will likely be unprofitable as the current price of ethylene is lower than the price of the stoichiometric quantity of ethanol required to produce it (Dagle et al., 2020). However, further processing to ethylene carbonate, a major component of the electrolyte in lithium batteries, could be profitable (Dagle et al., 2020). In fact, the CO_2 required for the reaction could be produced during ethanol fermentation itself. This example illustrates how more research needs to be directed towards the integration of biorefineries in the larger context of platform chemical utilisation instead of focusing only on the fermentation products. Ideally, biorefineries should aid further chemical processing by generating the co-products required for later chemical process steps, such as the CO_2 in the example above.

Acknowledgements

This PhD project has been an exciting journey with its ups and downs. Many people have contributed to its success, each one of them in her/his own way. All of them I owe my deepest gratitude.

First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my main supervisor, **Carl Johan Franzén**. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to pursue this PhD. You helped me to shape my ideas, to continuously develop as a researcher, and to achieve what at first sight seemed impossible.

I owe a big thanks to my co-supervisors, **Rickard Fornell**, and **Fábio Luis da Silva Faria Oliveira**. Rickard, your enthusiasm about modelling and variability analysis were a constant motivation. Thank you for all our discussions on multi-scale and flowsheet modelling which broadened my horizon to think about bioprocesses not only from the fermentation point of view. Fábio, thank you for all the supervisor meetings throughout the years, for your continuing support even when you left IndBio and for sharing your vast knowledge in microbiology.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my examiner, **Lisbeth Olsson**. Thank you for your support, feedback and for breaking down unrealistic goals into achievable ones.

I also would like to thank **Fredrik Nielsen**. Thank you for your help in the last year, for challenging my ideas to shape them and for sharing your broad knowledge on lignocellulosebased conversion processes. A big thank you also to **Matty Janssen** for a great collaboration on the multi-scale variability analysis framework. What would have been my first year without the collaboration with **Martina Aulitto** and **Salvatore Fusco**? Thank you for introducing me to the work with thermophilic bacteria and for all the fun we had despite odd working hours with fermentations.

A big thanks also to my master students, **David Sundberg** and **Tobias Asp**. Thank you for your hard work, the fun times in the lab and the possibility to learn supervision.

I would also like to express my gratitude to the whole **IndBio group**. Thank you for the nice working atmosphere, the talks during Fika, the much-needed disturbance in the form of floorball, and for friendships which evolved over the years. A special thanks to **Fábio**, **Jae**, **Jeroen**, **Jocke**, and **Julia** for the pep talks and support.

I would like to thank my family: My parents **Uwe** and **Sigrid** for their unconditional support and love.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife, **Miška**, and our daughter, **Laura**. **Miška**, without your positive energy, help, support, and love I wouldn't have come so far. There are many evenings and weekends to be caught up on. Milujem t'a. **Laura**, your unconditional love, your energy and your happiness gave me the energy to finish this thesis. I cannot imagine my life without the two of you.
References

- Abatzoglou, J. T., & Williams, A. P. (2016). Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(42), 11770-11775.
- Abdel-Banat, B. M., Hoshida, H., Ano, A., Nonklang, S., & Akada, R. (2010). Hightemperature fermentation: how can processes for ethanol production at high temperatures become superior to the traditional process using mesophilic yeast? *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 85(4), 861-867.
- Adeboye, P. T., Bettiga, M., Aldaeus, F., Larsson, P. T., & Olsson, L. (2015). Catabolism of coniferyl aldehyde, ferulic acid and p-coumaric acid by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* yields less toxic products. *Microbial Cell Factories*, 14(1), 149.
- Albers, E., Halpin, R., & Olsson, L. (manuscript in preparation). Evolutionary engineering for development of improved xylose utilization capacity and inhibitor tolerance in an industrial Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain.
- Alkasrawi, M., Rudolf, A., Lidén, G., & Zacchi, G. (2006). Influence of strain and cultivation procedure on the performance of simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of steam pretreated spruce. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 38(1– 2), 279-286.
- Allen, S. A., Clark, W., McCaffery, J. M., Cai, Z., Lanctot, A., Slininger, P. J., Liu, Z. L., & Gorsich, S. W. (2010). Furfural induces reactive oxygen species accumulation and cellular damage in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 3(1), 2.
- Almario, M. P., Reyes, L. H., & Kao, K. C. (2013). Evolutionary engineering of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for enhanced tolerance to hydrolysates of lignocellulosic biomass. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 110(10), 2616-2623.
- Almeida, J. R., Bertilsson, M., Gorwa-Grauslund, M. F., Gorsich, S., & Lidén, G. (2009). Metabolic effects of furaldehydes and impacts on biotechnological processes. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 82(4), 625.
- Almeida, J. R., Modig, T., Petersson, A., Hähn-Hägerdal, B., Lidén, G., & Gorwa-Grauslund, M. F. (2007). Increased tolerance and conversion of inhibitors in lignocellulosic hydrolysates by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 82(4), 340-349.
- Álvarez, C., Reyes-Sosa, F. M., & Díez, B. (2016). Enzymatic hydrolysis of biomass from wood. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 9(2), 149-156.

- Angarita, J., Souza, R., Cruz, A., Biscaia, E., & Secchi, A. (2015). Kinetic modeling for enzymatic hydrolysis of pretreated sugarcane straw. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 104, 10-19.
- Angelici, C., Weckhuysen, B. M., & Bruijnincx, P. C. (2013). Chemocatalytic conversion of ethanol into butadiene and other bulk chemicals. *ChemSusChem*, 6(9), 1595-1614.
- Arantes, V., & Saddler, J. N. (2011). Cellulose accessibility limits the effectiveness of minimum cellulase loading on the efficient hydrolysis of pretreated lignocellulosic substrates. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 4(1), 3.
- Argo, A. M., Tan, E. C., Inman, D., Langholtz, M. H., Eaton, L. M., Jacobson, J. J., Wright, C. T., Muth Jr, D. J., Wu, M. M., & Chiu, Y. W. (2013). Investigation of biochemical biorefinery sizing and environmental sustainability impacts for conventional bale system and advanced uniform biomass logistics designs. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 7(3), 282-302.
- Aulitto, M., Fusco, S., Bartolucci, S., Franzén, C. J., & Contursi, P. (2017). Bacillus coagulans MA-13: a promising thermophilic and cellulolytic strain for the production of lactic acid from lignocellulosic hydrolysate. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 10(1), 210.
- Aulitto, M., Fusco, S., Franzén, C. J., Strazzulli, A., Moracci, M., Bartolucci, S., & Contursi, P. (2019). Draft Genome Sequence of *Bacillus coagulans MA*-13, a Thermophilic Lactic Acid Producer from Lignocellulose. *Microbiology Resource Announcements*, 8(23).
- Bååth, J. A., Martínez-Abad, A., Berglund, J., Larsbrink, J., Vilaplana, F., & Olsson, L. (2018). Mannanase hydrolysis of spruce galactoglucomannan focusing on the influence of acetylation on enzymatic mannan degradation. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 11(1), 114.
- Balakshin, M., Capanema, E., Gracz, H., Chang, H.-m., & Jameel, H. (2011). Quantification of lignin–carbohydrate linkages with high-resolution NMR spectroscopy. *Planta*, 233(6), 1097-1110.
- Balan, V. (2014). Current challenges in commercially producing biofuels from lignocellulosic biomass. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2014.
- Banerjee, N., Bhatnagar, R., & Viswanathan, L. (1981). Inhibition of glycolysis by furfural in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. European Journal of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 11(4), 226-228.
- Bang, C. V., Aisma; Gregg, Jay Sterlin; Lindboe, Hans Henrik. (2013, 17.11.2020). Analysis of biomass prices - Future danish prices for straw, wood chips and wood pellets -Final report. Retrieved from https://www.ea-energianalyse.dk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/02/1280 analysis of biomass prices.pdf
- Bansal, P., Hall, M., Realff, M. J., Lee, J. H., & Bommarius, A. S. (2009). Modeling cellulase kinetics on lignocellulosic substrates. *Biotechnology Advances*, 27(6), 833-848.
- Baral, N. R., Davis, R., & Bradley, T. H. (2019). Supply and value chain analysis of mixed biomass feedstock supply system for lignocellulosic sugar production. *Biofuels*, *Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 13(3), 635-659.
- Beeson, W. T., Vu, V. V., Span, E. A., Phillips, C. M., & Marletta, M. A. (2015). Cellulose degradation by polysaccharide monooxygenases. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 84, 923-946.
- Benjamin, Y., García-Aparicio, M. P., & Görgens, J. F. (2014). Impact of cultivar selection and process optimization on ethanol yield from different varieties of sugarcane. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 7(1), 60.

- Bentsen, N. S., Felby, C., & Thorsen, B. J. (2014). Agricultural residue production and potentials for energy and materials services. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 40, 59-73.
- Bentsen, N. S., Nilsson, D., & Larsen, S. (2018). Agricultural residues for energy-a case study on the influence of resource availability, economy and policy on the use of straw for energy in Denmark and Sweden. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *108*, 278-288.
- Bentsen, N. S., Nilsson, D., Larsen, S., & Stupak, I. (2016). IEA Bioenergy Task 43: Agricultural residues for energy in Sweden and Denmark: differences and commonalities. Retrieved from https://www.ieabioenergy.com/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/EA-Bioenergy-Task-43-TR2016-05.pdf
- Bernhold, A., Witzell, J., & Hansson, P. (2006). Effect of slash removal on *Gremmeniella* abietina incidence on *Pinus sylvestris* after clear-cutting in northern Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 21(6), 489-495.
- Boehm, R. M. (1930). The Masonite Process1. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry, 22(5), 493-497.
- Bondesson, P.-M., Dupuy, A., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2015). Optimizing ethanol and methane production from steam-pretreated, phosphoric acid-impregnated corn stover. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 175(3), 1371-1388.
- Bondesson, P.-M., & Galbe, M. (2016). Process design of SSCF for ethanol production from steam-pretreated, acetic-acid-impregnated wheat straw. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 9(1), 222.
- Bornscheuer, U., Buchholz, K., & Seibel, J. (2014). Enzymatic degradation of (ligno) cellulose. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 53(41), 10876-10893.
- Borrion, A. L., McManus, M. C., & Hammond, G. P. (2012). Environmental life cycle assessment of lignocellulosic conversion to ethanol: a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 16(7), 4638-4650.
- Bozell, J. J., & Petersen, G. R. (2010). Technology development for the production of biobased products from biorefinery carbohydrates—the US Department of Energy's "Top 10" revisited. *Green Chemistry*, 12(4), 539-554.
- Brandt, A., Gräsvik, J., Hallett, J. P., & Welton, T. (2013). Deconstruction of lignocellulosic biomass with ionic liquids. *Green Chemistry*, 15(3), 550-583.
- British Petroleum. (2019). *BP Energy Outlook (2019)*. Retrieved from https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/energy-outlook/bp-energy-outlook-2019.pdf
- Brownlee, H. J., & Miner, C. S. (1948). Industrial development of furfural. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry*, 40(2), 201-204.
- Bubner, P., Plank, H., & Nidetzky, B. (2013). Visualizing cellulase activity. *Biotechnology* and *Bioengineering*, 110(6), 1529-1549.
- Burton, R. A., Gidley, M. J., & Fincher, G. B. (2010). Heterogeneity in the chemistry, structure and function of plant cell walls. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 6(10), 724.
- Cannella, D., & Jørgensen, H. (2014). Do new cellulolytic enzyme preparations affect the industrial strategies for high solids lignocellulosic ethanol production? *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 111(1), 59-68.
- Cantarella, M., Cantarella, L., Gallifuoco, A., Spera, A., & Alfani, F. (2004). Effect of Inhibitors Released during Steam-Explosion Treatment of Poplar Wood on Subsequent Enzymatic Hydrolysis and SSF. *Biotechnology Progress, 20*(1), 200-206.

- Cantu, D., Vicente, A. R., Labavitch, J. M., Bennett, A. B., & Powell, A. L. T. (2008). Strangers in the matrix: plant cell walls and pathogen susceptibility. *Trends in Plant Science*, *13*(11), 610-617.
- Celebi, A. D., Ensinas, A. V., Sharma, S., & Maréchal, F. (2017). Early-stage decision making approach for the selection of optimally integrated biorefinery processes. *Energy*, 137, 908-916.
- Cheali, P., Posada, J. A., Gernaey, K. V., & Sin, G. (2016). Economic risk analysis and critical comparison of optimal biorefinery concepts. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 10(4), 435-445.
- Chovau, S., Degrauwe, D., & Van der Bruggen, B. (2013). Critical analysis of technoeconomic estimates for the production cost of lignocellulosic bio-ethanol. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 26, 307-321.
- Christensen, P., Gillingham, K., & Nordhaus, W. (2018). Uncertainty in forecasts of longrun economic growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(21), 5409-5414.
- Clariant AG. (2020, 18.11.2020). Commercial-scale flagship plant for the production of cellulosic ethanol. Retrieved from https://www.clariant.com/en/Company/Contacts-and-Locations/Key-Sites/Romania
- Collins, S. R., Wellner, N., Bordonado, I. M., Harper, A. L., Miller, C. N., Bancroft, I., & Waldron, K. W. (2014). Variation in the chemical composition of wheat straw: the role of tissue ratio and composition. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 7(1), 121.
- Congressional Research Service. (2020). The Renewable Fuel Standard (RFS): An Overview.
- Cubas-Cano, E., Venus, J., González-Fernández, C., & Tomás-Pejó, E. (2020). Assessment of different *Bacillus coagulans* strains for 1-lactic acid production from defined media and gardening hydrolysates: Effect of lignocellulosic inhibitors. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 323, 9-16.
- da Silva, A. S. A., Espinheira, R. P., Teixeira, R. S. S., de Souza, M. F., Ferreira-Leitão, V., & Bon, E. P. (2020). Constraints and advances in high-solids enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass: a critical review. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 13(1), 1-28.
- Dagle, R. A., Winkelman, A. D., Ramasamy, K. K., Lebarbier Dagle, V., & Weber, R. S. (2020). Ethanol as a renewable building block for fuels and chemicals. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 59(11), 4843-4853.
- Dashtban, M., Maki, M., Leung, K. T., Mao, C., & Qin, W. (2010). Cellulase activities in biomass conversion: measurement methods and comparison. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 30(4), 302-309.
- Datta, R., & Henry, M. (2006). Lactic acid: recent advances in products, processes and technologies—a review. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 81(7), 1119-1129.
- de Jong, E., Higson, A., Walsh, P., & Wellisch, M. (2012). IEA Bioenergy Task 42: Biobased chemicals value added products from biorefineries. Retrieved from https://www.ieabioenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Task-42-Biobased-Chemicals-value-added-products-from-biorefineries.pdf
- Dellon, L. D., Yanez, A. J., Li, W., Mabon, R., & Broadbelt, L. J. (2017). Computational generation of lignin libraries from diverse biomass sources. *Energy & Fuels*, 31(8), 8263-8274.
- Dien, B. S., Zhu, J., Slininger, P. J., Kurtzman, C. P., Moser, B. R., O'Bryan, P. J., Gleisner, R., & Cotta, M. A. (2016). Conversion of SPORL pretreated Douglas fir forest residues into microbial lipids with oleaginous yeasts. *RSC Advances*, 6(25), 20695-20705.

- Ding, M.-Z., Wang, X., Yang, Y., & Yuan, Y.-J. (2011). Metabolomic study of interactive effects of phenol, furfural, and acetic acid on *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *OMICS*, 15(10), 647-653.
- Du, X., Gellerstedt, G., & Li, J. (2013). Universal fractionation of lignin–carbohydrate complexes (LCC s) from lignocellulosic biomass: an example using spruce wood. *The Plant Journal*, 74(2), 328-338.
- Duque, S. H., Cardona, C. A., & Moncada, J. (2015). Techno-economic and environmental analysis of ethanol production from 10 agroindustrial residues in Colombia. *Energy* & *Fuels*, 29(2), 775-783.
- Dynesen, J., Smits, H., Olsson, L., & Nielsen, J. (1998). Carbon catabolite repression of invertase during batch cultivations of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: the role of glucose, fructose, and mannose. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 50(5), 579-582.
- Ek, M., Gellerstedt, G., & Henriksson, G. (2009). *Wood chemistry and biotechnology* (Vol. 1): Walter de Gruyter.
- Eliasson, A., Hofmeyr, J.-H. S., Pedler, S., & Hahn-Hägerdal, B. (2001). The xylose reductase/xylitol dehydrogenase/xylulokinase ratio affects product formation in recombinant xylose-utilising *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 29(4–5), 288-297.
- Endalur Gopinarayanan, V., & Nair, N. U. (2019). Pentose metabolism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: the need to engineer global regulatory systems. *Biotechnology Journal*, *14*(1), 1800364.
- Erdei, B., Barta, Z., Sipos, B., Réczey, K., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2010). Ethanol production from mixtures of wheat straw and wheat meal. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, *3*(1), 16.
- Erdei, B., Hancz, D., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2013). SSF of steam-pretreated wheat straw with the addition of saccharified or fermented wheat meal in integrated bioethanol production. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 6(1), 1.
- Ericsson, K., & Werner, S. (2016). The introduction and expansion of biomass use in Swedish district heating systems. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 94, 57-65.
- Eriksson, T., Börjesson, J., & Tjerneld, F. (2002). Mechanism of surfactant effect in enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 31(3), 353-364.
- European Central Bank. (2020, 2020/12/30). ECB euro reference exchange rate: Swedish krona (SEK). Retrieved from https://www.ecb.europa.eu/stats/policy_and_exchange_rates/euro_reference_excha nge_rates/html/eurofxref-graph-sek.en.html
- European Commission. (2018). A clean planet for all. A European strategic long-term vision for a prosperous, modern, competitive and climate neutral economy.
- European Union. (2018). DIRECTIVE (EU) 2018/2001 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast).
- Evans, A., & Finkral, A. (2009). From renewable energy to fire risk reduction: a synthesis of biomass harvesting and utilization case studies in US forests. *GCB Bioenergy*, 1(3), 211-219.
- Ewanick, S. M., Bura, R., & Saddler, J. N. (2007). Acid-catalyzed steam pretreatment of lodgepole pine and subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation to ethanol. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 98(4), 737-746.
- FAO. (2020, 2020/12/18). FAOSTAT Crops. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC/visualize

- Fernandes, R. L., Krühne, U., Nopens, I., Jensen, A. D., & Gernaey, K. V. (2012). Multiscale modeling for prediction of distributed cellular properties in response to substrate spatial gradients in a continuously run microreactor. In *Computer Aided Chemical Engineering* (Vol. 31, pp. 545-549): Elsevier.
- Finnveden, G., Hauschild, M. Z., Ekvall, T., Guinée, J., Heijungs, R., Hellweg, S., Koehler, A., Pennington, D., & Suh, S. (2009). Recent developments in life cycle assessment. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 91(1), 1-21.
- Fornell, R., & Berntsson, T. (2012). Process integration study of a kraft pulp mill converted to an ethanol production plant–Part A: Potential for heat integration of thermal separation units. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, *35*, 81-90.
- Frankó, B., Galbe, M., & Wallberg, O. (2015). Influence of bark on fuel ethanol production from steam-pretreated spruce. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 8(1), 15.
- Frankó, B., Galbe, M., & Wallberg, O. (2016). Bioethanol production from forestry residues: A comparative techno-economic analysis. *Applied Energy*, 184, 727-736.
- Galbe, M., & Wallberg, O. (2019). Pretreatment for biorefineries: a review of common methods for efficient utilisation of lignocellulosic materials. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 12(1), 1-26.
- Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2012). Pretreatment: the key to efficient utilization of lignocellulosic materials. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 46, 70-78.
- Ganner, T., Bubner, P., Eibinger, M., Mayrhofer, C., Plank, H., & Nidetzky, B. (2012). Dissecting and reconstructing synergism in situ visualization of cooperativity among cellulases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(52), 43215-43222.
- García-Aparicio, M. P., Ballesteros, M., Manzanares, P., Ballesteros, I., González, A., & Negro, M. J. (2007). Xylanase contribution to the efficiency of cellulose enzymatic hydrolysis of barley straw. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 137(1-12), 353-365.
- Girisuta, B., Janssen, L., & Heeres, H. (2007). Kinetic study on the acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of cellulose to levulinic acid. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 46(6), 1696-1708.
- Gnansounou, E., & Dauriat, A. (2010). Techno-economic analysis of lignocellulosic ethanol: a review. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(13), 4980-4991.
- Golecha, R., & Gan, J. (2016a). Cellulosic biorefinery portfolio and diversification: Strategies to mitigate cellulosic biorefinery risks in US Corn Belt. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 13, 147-153.
- Golecha, R., & Gan, J. (2016b). Effects of corn stover year-to-year supply variability and market structure on biomass utilization and cost. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *57*, 34-44.
- Gollakota, A., Kishore, N., & Gu, S. (2018). A review on hydrothermal liquefaction of biomass. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 81, 1378-1392.
- González-García, S., Moreira, M. T., Feijoo, G., & Murphy, R. J. (2012). Comparative life cycle assessment of ethanol production from fast-growing wood crops (black locust, eucalyptus and poplar). *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *39*, 378-388.
- Göransson, K., Söderlind, U., He, J., & Zhang, W. (2011). Review of syngas production via biomass DFBGs. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 15(1), 482-492.
- Grahn, E. (2019). *Energy in Sweden: Facts and Figures 2019*. Retrieved from: http://www.energimyndigheten.se/en/news/2019/energy-in-sweden---facts-and-figures-2019-available-now/
- Guo, Z., & Olsson, L. (2014). Physiological response of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to weak acids present in lignocellulosic hydrolysate. *FEMS Yeast Research*, 14(8), 1234-1248.

- Hallac, B. B., & Ragauskas, A. J. (2011). Analyzing cellulose degree of polymerization and its relevancy to cellulosic ethanol. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 5*(2), 215-225.
- Hanhikoski, S., Niemelä, K., & Vuorinen, T. (2019). Biorefining of Scots pine using neutral sodium sulphite pulping: investigation of fibre and spent liquor compositions. *Industrial Crops and Products*, *129*, 135-141.
- Hansen, G., & Stone, D. (2016). Assessing the observed impact of anthropogenic climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(5), 532-537.
- Hanssen, K. H., Fløistad, I. S., Granhus, A., & Søgaard, G. (2018). Harvesting of logging residues affects diameter growth and pine weevil attacks on Norway spruce seedlings. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 33(1), 40-49.
- Harris, P. J., & Trethewey, J. A. (2010). The distribution of ester-linked ferulic acid in the cell walls of angiosperms. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 9(1), 19-33.
- Havlík, P., Schneider, U. A., Schmid, E., Böttcher, H., Fritz, S., Skalský, R., Aoki, K., De Cara, S., Kindermann, G., & Kraxner, F. (2011). Global land-use implications of first and second generation biofuel targets. *Energy Policy*, 39(10), 5690-5702.
- Heins, A. L., Lencastre Fernandes, R., Gernaey, K. V., & Lantz, A. E. (2015). Experimental and in silico investigation of population heterogeneity in continuous Sachharomyces cerevisiae scale-down fermentation in a two-compartment setup. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology, 90(2), 324-340.
- Himmel, M. E., Ding, S.-Y., Johnson, D. K., Adney, W. S., Nimlos, M. R., Brady, J. W., & Foust, T. D. (2007). Biomass Recalcitrance: Engineering Plants and Enzymes for Biofuels Production. *Science*, 315(5813), 804-807.
- Hodge, D. B., Karim, M. N., Schell, D. J., & McMillan, J. D. (2009). Model-based fed-batch for high-solids enzymatic cellulose hydrolysis. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 152(1), 88-107.
- Horváth, I. S., Franzén, C. J., Taherzadeh, M. J., Niklasson, C., & Lidén, G. (2003). Effects of furfural on the respiratory metabolism of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in glucoselimited chemostats. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(7), 4076-4086.
- Hoyer, K., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2009). Production of fuel ethanol from softwood by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation at high dry matter content. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, *84*(4), 570-577.
- Hsieh, C.-w. C., Cannella, D., Jørgensen, H., Felby, C., & Thygesen, L. G. (2014). Cellulase inhibition by high concentrations of monosaccharides. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62(17), 3800-3805.
- Hsu, J.-T., Faulkner, D. B., Garleb, K., Barclay, R., Fahey Jr, G., & Berger, L. (1987). Evaluation of corn fiber, cottonseed hulls, oat hulls and soybean hulls as roughage sources for ruminants. *Journal of Animal Science*, 65(1), 244-255.
- Hu, F., Jung, S., & Ragauskas, A. (2012). Pseudo-lignin formation and its impact on enzymatic hydrolysis. *Bioresource Technology*, 117, 7-12.
- Humbird, D., Davis, R., Tao, L., Kinchin, C., Hsu, D., Aden, A., Schoen, P., Lukas, J., Olthof, B., & Worley, M. (2011). NREL/TP-5100-47764: Process design and economics for biochemical conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to ethanol: diluteacid pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis of corn stover. Retrieved from https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy11osti/47764.pdf
- Humbird, D., Mohagheghi, A., Dowe, N., & Schell, D. J. (2010). Economic impact of total solids loading on enzymatic hydrolysis of dilute acid pretreated corn stover. *Biotechnology Progress, 26*(5), 1245-1251.

- Hyvönen, R., Olsson, B. A., Lundkvist, H., & Staaf, H. (2000). Decomposition and nutrient release from *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. and *Pinus sylvestris* L. logging residues. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 126(2), 97-112.
- International Energy Agency. (2018). *The future of petrochemicals Towards more sustainable plastics and fertilizers*. Retrieved from https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-petrochemicals
- IRENA. (2019). *Bioenergy from boreal forests: Swedish approach to sustainable wood use:* International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi.
- Jaafar, Z., Mazeau, K., Boissière, A., Le Gall, S., Villares, A., Vigouroux, J., Beury, N., Moreau, C., Lahaye, M., & Cathala, B. (2019). Meaning of xylan acetylation on xylan-cellulose interactions: A quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation (QCM-D) and molecular dynamic study. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 226, 115315.
- Janssen, M., Tillman, A.-M., Cannella, D., & Jørgensen, H. (2014). Influence of high gravity process conditions on the environmental impact of ethanol production from wheat straw. *Bioresource Technology*, *173*, 148-158.
- Janssen, M., Xiros, C., & Tillman, A.-M. (2016). Life cycle impacts of ethanol production from spruce wood chips under high-gravity conditions. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 9(1), 53.
- Janzon, R., Schütt, F., Oldenburg, S., Fischer, E., Körner, I., & Saake, B. (2014). Steam pretreatment of spruce forest residues: Optimal conditions for biogas production and enzymatic hydrolysis. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 100, 202-210.
- Jin, M., Gunawan, C., Balan, V., & Dale, B. E. (2012). Consolidated bioprocessing (CBP) of AFEXTM-pretreated corn stover for ethanol production using *Clostridium phytofermentans* at a high solids loading. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 109(8), 1929-1936.
- Joelsson, E., Erdei, B., Galbe, M., & Wallberg, O. (2016). Techno-economic evaluation of integrated first-and second-generation ethanol production from grain and straw. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 9(1), 1.
- Joelsson, E., Wallberg, O., & Börjesson, P. (2015). Integration potential, resource efficiency and cost of forest-fuel-based biorefineries. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 82, 240-258.
- Johansen, K. S. (2016). Lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases: the microbial power tool for lignocellulose degradation. *Trends in Plant Science*, 21(11), 926-936.
- Johansson, M.-B. (1995). The chemical composition of needle and leaf litter from Scots pine, Norway spruce and white birch in Scandinavian forests. *Forestry*, 68(1), 49-62.
- Jönsson, L. J., Alriksson, B., & Nilvebrant, N.-O. (2013). Bioconversion of lignocellulose: inhibitors and detoxification. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 6(1), 1.
- Jørgensen, H., van Hecke, J., Zhang, H., Malik, P. L., Felby, C., & Schjoerring, J. K. (2019). Wheat as a dual crop for biorefining: Straw quality parameters and their interactions with nitrogen supply in modern elite cultivars. *GCB Bioenergy*, *11*(2), 400-415.
- Kadam, K. L., Rydholm, E. C., & McMillan, J. D. (2004). Development and validation of a kinetic model for enzymatic saccharification of lignocellulosic biomass. *Biotechnology Progress*, 20(3), 698-705.
- Kadhum, H. J., Rajendran, K., & Murthy, G. S. (2018). Optimization of surfactant addition in cellulosic ethanol process using integrated techno-economic and life cycle assessment for bioprocess design. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 6(11), 13687-13695.
- Kenney, K. L., Smith, W. A., Gresham, G. L., & Westover, T. L. (2013). Understanding biomass feedstock variability. *Biofuels*, 4(1), 111-127.

- Klein-Marcuschamer, D., Oleskowicz-Popiel, P., Simmons, B. A., & Blanch, H. W. (2010). Technoeconomic analysis of biofuels: a wiki-based platform for lignocellulosic biorefineries. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 34(12), 1914-1921.
- Koppram, R., Tomás-Pejó, E., Xiros, C., & Olsson, L. (2014). Lignocellulosic ethanol production at high-gravity: challenges and perspectives. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 32(1), 46-53.
- Kötter, P., & Ciriacy, M. (1993). Xylose fermentation by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *38*(6), 776-783.
- Kretschmer, B., Allen, B., & Hart, K. (2012). *Mobilising cereal straw in the EU to feed advanced biofuel production*. Retrieved from https://ieep.eu/uploads/articles/attachments/7027de1e-dc4d-43e8-8126-16402efe66ed/IEEP_Agricultural_residues_for_advanced_biofuels_May_2012.pdf ?v=63664509775
- Kumar, L., Arantes, V., Chandra, R., & Saddler, J. (2012). The lignin present in steam pretreated softwood binds enzymes and limits cellulose accessibility. *Bioresource Technology*, 103(1), 201-208.
- Larsen, J., Haven, M. Ø., & Thirup, L. (2012). Inbicon makes lignocellulosic ethanol a commercial reality. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 46, 36-45.
- Larsson, S., Nilvebrant, N.-O., & Jönsson, L. (2001). Effect of overexpression of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Pad1p on the resistance to phenylacrylic acids and lignocellulose hydrolysates under aerobic and oxygen-limited conditions. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 57(1-2), 167-174.
- Leskinen, T., Salas, C., Kelley, S. S., & Argyropoulos, D. S. (2015). Wood extractives promote cellulase activity on cellulosic substrates. *Biomacromolecules*, 16(10), 3226-3234.
- Levi, P. G., & Cullen, J. M. (2018). Mapping global flows of chemicals: from fossil fuel feedstocks to chemical products. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(4), 1725-1734.
- Lewandowski, I., & Heinz, A. (2003). Delayed harvest of miscanthus—influences on biomass quantity and quality and environmental impacts of energy production. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 19(1), 45-63.
- Li, J., Henriksson, G., & Gellerstedt, G. (2005). Carbohydrate reactions during hightemperature steam treatment of aspen wood. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 125(3), 175.
- Li, J., Henriksson, G., & Gellerstedt, G. (2007). Lignin depolymerization/repolymerization and its critical role for delignification of aspen wood by steam explosion. *Bioresource Technology*, 98(16), 3061-3068.
- Lindahl, L., Genheden, S., Faria-Oliveira, F., Allard, S., Eriksson, L. A., Olsson, L., & Bettiga, M. (2018). Alcohols enhance the rate of acetic acid diffusion in *S. cerevisiae*: biophysical mechanisms and implications for acetic acid tolerance. *Microbial Cell*, 5(1), 42.
- Lindström, E., Sandström, M., Boström, D., & Öhman, M. (2007). Slagging characteristics during combustion of cereal grains rich in phosphorus. *Energy & Fuels, 21*(2), 710-717.
- Liptow, C., Tillman, A.-M., Janssen, M., Wallberg, O., & Taylor, G. A. (2013). Ethylene based on woody biomass—what are environmental key issues of a possible future Swedish production on industrial scale. *The International Journal of Life Cycle* Assessment, 18(5), 1071-1081.
- Liu, H., Zhang, L., Han, Z., Xie, B., & Wu, S. (2013). The effects of leaching methods on the combustion characteristics of rice straw. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 49, 22-27.

- Liu, Z.-H., & Chen, H.-Z. (2016). Simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation for improving the xylose utilization of steam exploded corn stover at high solid loading. *Bioresource Technology*, 201, 15-26.
- Liu, Z., Slininger, P., Dien, B., Berhow, M., Kurtzman, C., & Gorsich, S. (2004). Adaptive response of yeasts to furfural and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural and new chemical evidence for HMF conversion to 2, 5-bis-hydroxymethylfuran. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 31(8), 345-352.
- López-Linares, J. C., Ballesteros, I., Tourán, J., Cara, C., Castro, E., Ballesteros, M., & Romero, I. (2015). Optimization of uncatalyzed steam explosion pretreatment of rapeseed straw for biofuel production. *Bioresource Technology*, 190, 97-105.
- Ludovico, P., Sousa, M. J., Silva, M. T., Leão, C. I., & Côrte-Real, M. (2001). Saccharomyces cerevisiae commits to a programmed cell death process in response to acetic acid. *Microbiology*, 147(9), 2409-2415.
- Martin, C., Bhatt, K., & Baumann, K. (2001). Shaping in plant cells. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 4(6), 540-549.
- Martín, C., Galbe, M., Nilvebrant, N.-O., & Jönsson, L. J. (2002). Comparison of the fermentability of enzymatic hydrolyzates of sugarcane bagasse pretreated by steam explosion using different impregnating agents. In *Biotechnology for Fuels and Chemicals* (pp. 699-716): Springer.
- McKendry, P. (2002). Energy production from biomass (part 2): conversion technologies. *Bioresource Technology*, 83(1), 47-54.
- Modig, T., Lidén, G., & Taherzadeh, M. J. (2002). Inhibition effects of furfural on alcohol dehydrogenase, aldehyde dehydrogenase and pyruvate dehydrogenase. *Biochemical Journal*, 363(3), 769-776.
- Mohnen, D. (2008). Pectin structure and biosynthesis. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 11(3), 266-277.
- Monavari, S., Bennato, A., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2010). Improved one-step steam pretreatment of SO₂-Impregnated softwood with time-dependent temperature profile for ethanol production. *Biotechnology Progress*, *26*(4), 1054-1060.
- Montero, G., Coronado, M. A., Torres, R., Jaramillo, B. E., García, C., Stoytcheva, M., Vázquez, A. M., León, J. A., Lambert, A. A., & Valenzuela, E. (2016). Higher heating value determination of wheat straw from Baja California, Mexico. *Energy*, 109, 612-619.
- Morales-Rodriguez, R., Meyer, A. S., Gernaey, K. V., & Sin, G. (2011). Dynamic modelbased evaluation of process configurations for integrated operation of hydrolysis and co-fermentation for bioethanol production from lignocellulose. *Bioresource Technology*, 102(2), 1174-1184.
- Morales-Rodriguez, R., Meyer, A. S., Gernaey, K. V., & Sin, G. (2012). A framework for model-based optimization of bioprocesses under uncertainty: Lignocellulosic ethanol production case. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 42, 115-129.
- Morris, S., Hanna, S., & Miles, M. (2004). The self-assembly of plant cell wall components by single-molecule force spectroscopy and Monte Carlo modelling. *Nanotechnology*, 15(9), 1296.
- Mosier, N., Wyman, C., Dale, B., Elander, R., Lee, Y., Holtzapple, M., & Ladisch, M. (2005). Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresource Technology*, 96(6), 673-686.
- Muzamal, M., Jedvert, K., Theliander, H., & Rasmuson, A. (2015). Structural changes in spruce wood during different steps of steam explosion pretreatment. *Holzforschung*, 69(1), 61-66.

- Narayanan, V., Sanchez i Nogué, V., Van Niel, E. W., & Gorwa-Grauslund, M. F. (2016). Adaptation to low pH and lignocellulosic inhibitors resulting in ethanolic fermentation and growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *AMB Express*, 6(1), 59.
- Neiva, D. M., Araújo, S., Gominho, J., de Cassia Carneiro, A., & Pereira, H. (2018). An integrated characterization of *Picea abies* industrial bark regarding chemical composition, thermal properties and polar extracts activity. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(11).
- Nemecek, T., Kägi, T., & Blaser, S. (2007). Life cycle inventories of agricultural production systems. *Final report ecoinvent v2. 0 No, 15.*
- Nielsen, F., Galbe, M., Zacchi, G., & Wallberg, O. (2019). The effect of mixed agricultural feedstocks on steam pretreatment, enzymatic hydrolysis, and cofermentation in the lignocellulose-to-ethanol process. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-14.
- Nielsen, F., Tomás-Pejó, E., Olsson, L., & Wallberg, O. (2015). Short-term adaptation during propagation improves the performance of xylose-fermenting *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 8(1), 1.
- Nielsen, F., Zacchi, G., Galbe, M., & Wallberg, O. (2017). Sequential targeting of xylose and glucose conversion in fed-batch simultaneous saccharification and cofermentation of steam-pretreated wheat straw for improved xylose conversion to ethanol. *BioEnergy Research*, 10(3), 800-810.
- Nitsos, C. K., Lazaridis, P. A., Mach-Aigner, A., Matis, K. A., & Triantafyllidis, K. S. (2019). Enhancing lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysis by hydrothermal pretreatment, extraction of surface lignin, wet milling and production of cellulolytic enzymes. *ChemSusChem*, 12(6), 1179-1195.
- Niu, H., Shah, N., & Kontoravdi, C. (2016). Modelling of amorphous cellulose depolymerisation by cellulases, parametric studies and optimisation. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 105, 455-472.
- Noon, C. E., Zhan, F. B., & Graham, R. L. (2002). GIS-based analysis of marginal price variation with an application in the identification of candidate ethanol conversion plant locations. *Networks and Spatial Economics*, 2(1), 79-93.
- Normark, M., Winestrand, S., Lestander, T. A., & Jönsson, L. J. (2014). Analysis, pretreatment and enzymatic saccharification of different fractions of Scots pine. *BMC biotechnology*, 14(1), 20.
- Novy, V., Wang, R., Westman, J. O., Franzén, C. J., & Nidetzky, B. (2017). Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain comparison in glucose–xylose fermentations on defined substrates and in high-gravity SSCF: convergence in strain performance despite differences in genetic and evolutionary engineering history. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 10(1), 205.
- Öhgren, K., Bura, R., Lesnicki, G., Saddler, J., & Zacchi, G. (2007). A comparison between simultaneous saccharification and fermentation and separate hydrolysis and fermentation using steam-pretreated corn stover. *Process Biochemistry*, *42*(5), 834-839.
- Ojeda, K., Sánchez, E., El-Halwagi, M., & Kafarov, V. (2011). Exergy analysis and process integration of bioethanol production from acid pre-treated biomass: Comparison of SHF, SSF and SSCF pathways. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, *176–177*, 195-201.
- Oke, M. A., Annuar, M. S. M., & Simarani, K. (2016). Mixed feedstock approach to lignocellulosic ethanol production—prospects and limitations. *BioEnergy Research*, 9(4), 1189-1203.
- Olofsson, J., Barta, Z., Börjesson, P., & Wallberg, O. (2017). Integrating enzyme fermentation in lignocellulosic ethanol production: life-cycle assessment and technoeconomic analysis. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 10(1), 51.

- Olofsson, K., Bertilsson, M., & Lidén, G. (2008a). A short review on SSF–an interesting process option for ethanol production from lignocellulosic feedstocks. *Biotechnology* for Biofuels, 1(1), 1.
- Olofsson, K., Palmqvist, B., & Lidén, G. (2010). Improving simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of pretreated wheat straw using both enzyme and substrate feeding. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 3(1), 1.
- Olofsson, K., Rudolf, A., & Lidén, G. (2008b). Designing simultaneous saccharification and fermentation for improved xylose conversion by a recombinant strain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Biotechnology*, *134*(1–2), 112-120.
- Olsen, C., Arantes, V., & Saddler, J. (2015). Optimization of chip size and moisture content to obtain high, combined sugar recovery after sulfur dioxide-catalyzed steam pretreatment of softwood and enzymatic hydrolysis of the cellulosic component. *Bioresource Technology*, 187, 288-298.
- Ostergaard, S., Olsson, L., Johnston, M., & Nielsen, J. (2000). Increasing galactose consumption by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* through metabolic engineering of the GAL gene regulatory network. *Nature Biotechnology*, *18*(12), 1283-1286.
- Oy Karl Fazer Ab. (2020, 2020/11/03). Fazer Xylitol INNOVATION FROM OATS. Retrieved from https://www.fazermills.com/products/fazer-xylitol/
- Palmqvist, E., Almeida, J. S., & Hahn-Hägerdal, B. (1999a). Influence of furfural on anaerobic glycolytic kinetics of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in batch culture. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 62(4), 447-454.
- Palmqvist, E., Grage, H., Meinander, N. Q., & Hahn-Hägerdal, B. (1999b). Main and interaction effects of acetic acid, furfural, and p-hydroxybenzoic acid on growth and ethanol productivity of yeasts. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 63(1), 46-55.
- Palmqvist, E., & Hahn-Hägerdal, B. (2000). Fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates. II: inhibitors and mechanisms of inhibition. *Bioresource Technology*, 74(1), 25-33.
- Parajuli, R., Dalgaard, T., Jørgensen, U., Adamsen, A. P. S., Knudsen, M. T., Birkved, M., Gylling, M., & Schjørring, J. K. (2015). Biorefining in the prevailing energy and materials crisis: a review of sustainable pathways for biorefinery value chains and sustainability assessment methodologies. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 43, 244-263.
- Persson, M., Galbe, M., & Wallberg, O. (2020). A strategy for synergistic ethanol yield and improved production predictability through blending feedstocks. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 13(1), 1-11.
- Petersson, A., Almeida, J. R., Modig, T., Karhumaa, K., Hahn-Hägerdal, B., Gorwa-Grauslund, M. F., & Lidén, G. (2006). A 5-hydroxymethyl furfural reducing enzyme encoded by the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* ADH6 gene conveys HMF tolerance. *Yeast*, 23(6), 455-464.
- Pielhop, T., Amgarten, J., von Rohr, P. R., & Studer, M. H. (2016a). Steam explosion pretreatment of softwood: the effect of the explosive decompression on enzymatic digestibility. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 9.
- Pielhop, T., Larrazábal, G. O., & von Rohr, P. R. (2016b). Autohydrolysis pretreatment of softwood–enhancement by phenolic additives and the effects of other compounds. *Green Chemistry*, 18(19), 5239-5247.
- Pleissner, D., Neu, A.-K., Mehlmann, K., Schneider, R., Puerta-Quintero, G. I., & Venus, J. (2016). Fermentative lactic acid production from coffee pulp hydrolysate using *Bacillus coagulans* at laboratory and pilot scales. *Bioresource Technology*, 218, 167-173.

- Ploch, T., Zhao, X., Hüser, J., von Lieres, E., Hannemann-Tamás, R., Naumann, U., Wiechert, W., Mitsos, A., & Noack, S. (2019). Multiscale dynamic modeling and simulation of a biorefinery. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 116(10), 2561-2574.
- Pornkamol, U., & Franzén, C. J. (2015). Dynamic flux balancing elucidates NAD(P)H production as limiting response to furfural inhibition in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Biotechnology Journal*, 10(8), 1248-1258.
- Prinsen, P., Gutiérrez, A., & del Río, J. C. (2012). Lipophilic extractives from the cortex and pith of elephant grass (*Pennisetum purpureum* Schumach.) stems. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(25), 6408-6417.
- Prunescu, R. M., & Sin, G. (2013). Dynamic modeling and validation of a lignocellulosic enzymatic hydrolysis process A demonstration scale study. *Bioresource Technology*, 150, 393-403.
- Ragauskas, A. J., Beckham, G. T., Biddy, M. J., Chandra, R., Chen, F., Davis, M. F., Davison, B. H., Dixon, R. A., Gilna, P., & Keller, M. (2014). Lignin valorization: improving lignin processing in the biorefinery. *Science*, 344(6185), 1246843.
- Rahikainen, J. L., Martin-Sampedro, R., Heikkinen, H., Rovio, S., Marjamaa, K., Tamminen, T., Rojas, O. J., & Kruus, K. (2013). Inhibitory effect of lignin during cellulose bioconversion: the effect of lignin chemistry on non-productive enzyme adsorption. *Bioresource Technology*, 133, 270-278.
- Rajagopalan, N., Venditti, R., Kelley, S., & Daystar, J. (2017). Multi-attribute uncertainty analysis of the life cycle of lignocellulosic feedstock for biofuel production. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 11*(2), 269-280.
- Ramos, L. P. (2003). The chemistry involved in the steam treatment of lignocellulosic materials. *Química Nova, 26*(6), 863-871.
- Ray, A. E., Williams, C. L., Hoover, A. N., Li, C., Sale, K. L., Emerson, R. M., Klinger, J., Oksen, E., Narani, A., & Yan, J. (2020). Multiscale Characterization of Lignocellulosic Biomass Variability and Its Implications to Preprocessing and Conversion: a Case Study for Corn Stover. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 8(8), 3218-3230.
- Ray, M. J., Leak, D. J., Spanu, P. D., & Murphy, R. J. (2010). Brown rot fungal early stage decay mechanism as a biological pretreatment for softwood biomass in biofuel production. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 34(8), 1257-1262.
- Rencoret, J., Gutiérrez, A., Nieto, L., Jiménez-Barbero, J., Faulds, C. B., Kim, H., Ralph, J., Martínez, Á. T., & del Río, J. C. (2011). Lignin Composition and Structure in Young versus Adult *Eucalyptus globulus* Plants. *Plant Physiology*, 155(2), 667-682.
- Richard, T. L. (2010). Challenges in scaling up biofuels infrastructure. *Science*, 329(5993), 793-796.
- Rosales-Calderon, O., & Arantes, V. (2019). A review on commercial-scale high-value products that can be produced alongside cellulosic ethanol. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 12(1), 240.
- Rosenzweig, C., Karoly, D., Vicarelli, M., Neofotis, P., Wu, Q., Casassa, G., Menzel, A., Root, T. L., Estrella, N., & Seguin, B. (2008). Attributing physical and biological impacts to anthropogenic climate change. *Nature*, 453(7193), 353-357.
- Rudolf, A., Baudel, H., Zacchi, G., Hahn-Hägerdal, B., & Lidén, G. (2008). Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of steam-pretreated bagasse using *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* TMB3400 and Pichia stipitis CBS6054. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 99(4), 783-790.
- Rulli, M. C., Bellomi, D., Cazzoli, A., De Carolis, G., & D'Odorico, P. (2016). The waterland-food nexus of first-generation biofuels. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 22521.

- Ruth, M. F., & Thomas, S. R. (2003). *The effect of corn stover composition on ethanol process economics.* Paper presented at the 25th Symposium on Biotechnology for Fuels and Chemicals.
- Sassner, P., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2006). Bioethanol production based on simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of steam-pretreated *Salix* at high dry-matter content. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, *39*(4), 756-762.
- Schmitz, E., Nordberg Karlsson, E., & Adlercreutz, P. (2020). Warming weather changes the chemical composition of oat hulls. *Plant Biology*.
- Sella Kapu, N., & Trajano, H. L. (2014). Review of hemicellulose hydrolysis in softwoods and bamboo. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 8*(6), 857-870.
- Shinde, S. D., Meng, X., Kumar, R., & Ragauskas, A. J. (2018). Recent advances in understanding the pseudo-lignin formation in a lignocellulosic biorefinery. *Green Chemistry*, 20(10), 2192-2205.
- Sin, G., Meyer, A. S., & Gernaey, K. V. (2010). Assessing reliability of cellulose hydrolysis models to support biofuel process design—Identifiability and uncertainty analysis. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 34(9), 1385-1392.
- Singhania, R. R., Sukumaran, R. K., Patel, A. K., Larroche, C., & Pandey, A. (2010). Advancement and comparative profiles in the production technologies using solidstate and submerged fermentation for microbial cellulases. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 46(7), 541-549.
- Sjöström, E. (1993). *Wood chemistry: fundamentals and applications*: Gulf professional publishing.
- Söderström, J., Pilcher, L., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2003). Combined use of H₂SO₄ and SO₂ impregnation for steam pretreatment of spruce in ethanol production. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, *105*(1), 127-140.
- Spatari, S., Bagley, D. M., & MacLean, H. L. (2010). Life cycle evaluation of emerging lignocellulosic ethanol conversion technologies. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(2), 654-667.
- Stenberg, K., Tengborg, C., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (1998). Optimisation of steam pretreatment of SO₂-impregnated mixed softwoods for ethanol production. *Journal* of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology, 71(4), 299-308.
- Stevenson, D. G., Inglett, G. E., Webster, F., & Wood, P. (2011). Oat dietary fiber: commercial processes and functional attributes. In *Oats: Chemistry and Technology* (pp. 321-328).
- Stoklosa, R. J., & Hodge, D. B. (2012). Extraction, recovery, and characterization of hardwood and grass hemicelluloses for integration into biorefining processes. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 51(34), 11045-11053.
- Talebnia, F., Karakashev, D., & Angelidaki, I. (2010). Production of bioethanol from wheat straw: an overview on pretreatment, hydrolysis and fermentation. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(13), 4744-4753.
- Tan, L., Eberhard, S., Pattathil, S., Warder, C., Glushka, J., Yuan, C., Hao, Z., Zhu, X., Avci, U., & Miller, J. S. (2013). An *Arabidopsis* cell wall proteoglycan consists of pectin and arabinoxylan covalently linked to an arabinogalactan protein. *The Plant Cell*, 25(1), 270-287.
- Tao, Geladi, P., Lestander, T. A., & Xiong, S. (2012). Biomass properties in association with plant species and assortments. II: A synthesis based on literature data for ash elements. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 16(5), 3507-3522.
- Tao, L., Aden, A., Elander, R. T., Pallapolu, V. R., Lee, Y., Garlock, R. J., Balan, V., Dale,B. E., Kim, Y., & Mosier, N. S. (2011). Process and technoeconomic analysis of

leading pretreatment technologies for lignocellulosic ethanol production using switchgrass. *Bioresource Technology*, 102(24), 11105-11114.

- Tao, L., Tan, E. C., McCormick, R., Zhang, M., Aden, A., He, X., & Zigler, B. T. (2014). Techno-economic analysis and life-cycle assessment of cellulosic isobutanol and comparison with cellulosic ethanol and n-butanol. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 8(1), 30-48.
- Taylor, R., Nattrass, L., Alberts, G., Robson, P., Chudziak, C., Bauen, A., Libelli, I., Lotti, G., Prussi, M., & Nistri, R. (2015). From the sugar platform to biofuels and biochemicals: final report for the European Commission Directorate-General Energy. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/default/files/documents/EC%20Sugar%20Platfor m%20final%20report.pdf
- Templeton, D. W., Sluiter, A. D., Hayward, T. K., Hames, B. R., & Thomas, S. R. (2009). Assessing corn stover composition and sources of variability via NIRS. *Cellulose*, 16(4), 621-639.
- Tengborg, C., Stenberg, K., Galbe, M., Zacchi, G., Larsson, S., Palmqvist, E., & Hahn-Hägerdal, B. (1998). Comparison of SO₂ and H₂SO₄ impregnation of softwood prior to steam pretreatment on ethanol production. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 70(1), 3.
- Thorenz, A., Wietschel, L., Stindt, D., & Tuma, A. (2018). Assessment of agroforestry residue potentials for the bioeconomy in the European Union. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 176, 348-359.
- Toivari, M. H., Salusjärvi, L., Ruohonen, L., & Penttilä, M. (2004). Endogenous xylose pathway in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(6), 3681-3686.
- Tokin, R., Ipsen, J. Ø., Westh, P., & Johansen, K. S. (2020). The synergy between LPMOs and cellulases in enzymatic saccharification of cellulose is both enzyme- and substrate-dependent. *Biotechnology Letters*, 42(10), 1975-1984.
- Tomás-Pejó, E., Oliva, J. M., Ballesteros, M., & Olsson, L. (2008). Comparison of SHF and SSF processes from steam-exploded wheat straw for ethanol production by xylosefermenting and robust glucose-fermenting *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 100(6), 1122-1131.
- Tomás-Pejó, E., & Olsson, L. (2015). Influence of the propagation strategy for obtaining robust *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells that efficiently co-ferment xylose and glucose in lignocellulosic hydrolysates. *Microbial Biotechnology*, *8*(6), 999-1005.
- Trajano, H. L., Engle, N. L., Foston, M., Ragauskas, A. J., Tschaplinski, T. J., & Wyman, C. E. (2013). The fate of lignin during hydrothermal pretreatment. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 6(1), 110.
- Trček, J., Mira, N. P., & Jarboe, L. R. (2015). Adaptation and tolerance of bacteria against acetic acid. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 99(15), 6215-6229.
- Tuyttens, F. A. M. (2005). The importance of straw for pig and cattle welfare: a review. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 92(3), 261-282.
- Ullah, A., Orij, R., Brul, S., & Smits, G. J. (2012). Quantitative analysis of the modes of growth inhibition by weak organic acids in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *78*(23), 8377-8387.
- United Nations. (2019). World population prospects 2019.
- United Nations FCCC. (2015). Adoption of the Paris Agreement. Retrieved from https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2015/cop21/eng/10a01.pdf
- United Nations FCCC. (2017). *Fiji momentum for implementation. Decision 1/CP.23, Bonn.* Retrieved from https://cop23.com.fj/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/cp23_auv_fiji.pdf

- Unrean, P., Khajeeram, S., & Laoteng, K. (2016). Systematic optimization of fed-batch simultaneous saccharification and fermentation at high-solid loading based on enzymatic hydrolysis and dynamic metabolic modeling of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 100(5), 2459-2470.
- Urbanowicz, B. R., Peña, M. J., Ratnaparkhe, S., Avci, U., Backe, J., Steet, H. F., Foston, M., Li, H., O'Neill, M. A., & Ragauskas, A. J. (2012). 4-O-methylation of glucuronic acid in *Arabidopsis* glucuronoxylan is catalyzed by a domain of unknown function family 579 protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(35), 14253-14258.
- van der Pol, E., Springer, J., Vriesendorp, B., Weusthuis, R., & Eggink, G. (2016). Precultivation of *Bacillus coagulans* DSM2314 in the presence of furfural decreases inhibitory effects of lignocellulosic by-products during L(+)-lactic acid fermentation. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 100(24), 10307-10319.
- Van Dijk, M., Erdei, B., Galbe, M., Nygård, Y., & Olsson, L. (2019). Strain-dependent variance in short-term adaptation effects of two xylose-fermenting strains of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Bioresource Technology, 292, 121922.
- Van Dijk, M., Rugbjerg, P., Nygård, Y., & Olsson, L. (manuscript in preparation). RNA sequencing during short-term adaptation of *S. cerevisiae* to lignocellulosic inhibitors reveals several important metabolic and regulatory changes that leads to more robust fermentation performance.
- Van Dyk, J., & Pletschke, B. (2012). A review of lignocellulose bioconversion using enzymatic hydrolysis and synergistic cooperation between enzymes—factors affecting enzymes, conversion and synergy. *Biotechnology Advances*, 30(6), 1458-1480.
- Vera, R. M., Bura, R., & Gustafson, R. (2015). Synergistic effects of mixing hybrid poplar and wheat straw biomass for bioconversion processes. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, $\delta(1)$, 226.
- Vorwerk, S., Somerville, S., & Somerville, C. (2004). The role of plant cell wall polysaccharide composition in disease resistance. *Trends in Plant Science*, 9(4), 203-209.
- Wahlbom, C. F., & Hahn–Hägerdal, B. (2002). Furfural, 5-hydroxymethyl furfural, and acetoin act as external electron acceptors during anaerobic fermentation of xylose in recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 78(2), 172-178.
- Wahlbom, C. F., van Zyl, W. H., Jönsson, L. J., Hahn-Hägerdal, B., & Otero, R. R. C. (2003). Generation of the improved recombinant xylose-utilizing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* TMB 3400 by random mutagenesis and physiological comparison with *Pichia stipitis* CBS 6054. *FEMS Yeast Research*, 3(3), 319-326.
- Wang, G., Tang, W., Xia, J., Chu, J., Noorman, H., & van Gulik, W. M. (2015). Integration of microbial kinetics and fluid dynamics toward model-driven scale-up of industrial bioprocesses. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, 15(1), 20-29.
- Wang, L., Hustad, J. E., Skreiberg, Ø., Skjevrak, G., & Grønli, M. (2012a). A critical review on additives to reduce ash related operation problems in biomass combustion applications. *Energy Procedia*, 20, 20-29.
- Wang, R., Koppram, R., Olsson, L., & Franzén, C. J. (2014). Kinetic modeling of multi-feed simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of pretreated birch to ethanol. *Bioresource Technology*, 172, 303-311.
- Wang, R., Unrean, P., & Franzén, C. J. (2016). Model-based optimization and scale-up of multi-feed simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of steam pre-treated

lignocellulose enables high gravity ethanol production. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 9(1), 88.

- Wang, S., Dai, G., Yang, H., & Luo, Z. (2017). Lignocellulosic biomass pyrolysis mechanism: a state-of-the-art review. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 62, 33-86.
- Wang, T., Zabotina, O., & Hong, M. (2012b). Pectin–cellulose interactions in the Arabidopsis primary cell wall from two-dimensional magic-angle-spinning solidstate nuclear magnetic resonance. Biochemistry, 51(49), 9846-9856.
- Wang, Z., Wu, G., & Jönsson, L. J. (2018). Effects of impregnation of softwood with sulfuric acid and sulfur dioxide on chemical and physical characteristics, enzymatic digestibility, and fermentability. *Bioresource Technology*, 247, 200-208.
- Weiss, N. D., Farmer, J. D., & Schell, D. J. (2010). Impact of corn stover composition on hemicellulose conversion during dilute acid pretreatment and enzymatic cellulose digestibility of the pretreated solids. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(2), 674-678.
- Weiss, N. D., Felby, C., & Thygesen, L. G. (2019). Enzymatic hydrolysis is limited by biomass-water interactions at high-solids: improved performance through substrate modifications. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, *12*(1), 3.
- Welch, R. W., Hayward, M. V., & Jones, D. I. H. (1983). The composition of oat husk and its variation due to genetic and other factors. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 34(5), 417-426.
- Wendt, L. M., Murphy, J. A., Smith, W. A., Robb, T., Reed, D. W., Ray, A. E., Liang, L., He, Q., Sun, N., & Hoover, A. N. (2018). Compatibility of high-moisture storage for biochemical conversion of corn stover: storage performance at laboratory and field scales. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, *6*, 30.
- Westman, J. O., Wang, R., Novy, V., & Franzén, C. J. (2017). Sustaining fermentation in high-gravity ethanol production by feeding yeast to a temperature-profiled multifeed simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of wheat straw. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 10(1), 213.
- Weusthuis, R. A., Lamot, I., van der Oost, J., & Sanders, J. P. (2011). Microbial production of bulk chemicals: development of anaerobic processes. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 29(4), 153-158.
- Williams, A. P., Abatzoglou, J. T., Gershunov, A., Guzman-Morales, J., Bishop, D. A., Balch, J. K., & Lettenmaier, D. P. (2019). Observed impacts of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire in California. *Earth's Future*, 7(8), 892-910.
- Wingren, A., Galbe, M., & Zacchi, G. (2003). Techno-economic evaluation of producing ethanol from softwood: Comparison of SSF and SHF and identification of bottlenecks. *Biotechnology Progress*, 19(4), 1109-1117.
- Ximenes, E., Kim, Y., Mosier, N., Dien, B., & Ladisch, M. (2011). Deactivation of cellulases by phenols. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 48(1), 54-60.
- Xiros, C., Janssen, M., Byström, R., Børresen, B. T., Cannella, D., Jørgensen, H., Koppram, R., Larsson, C., Olsson, L., & Tillman, A. M. (2017). Toward a sustainable biorefinery using high-gravity technology. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining,* 11(1), 15-27.
- Xu, Y., & Wang, D. (2017). Integrating starchy substrate into cellulosic ethanol production to boost ethanol titers and yields. *Applied Energy*, 195, 196-203.
- Yang, B., & Wyman, C. E. (2008). Pretreatment: the key to unlocking low-cost cellulosic ethanol. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 2*(1), 26-40.
- Ye, L., Hudari, M. S. B., Li, Z., & Wu, J. C. (2014). Simultaneous detoxification, saccharification and co-fermentation of oil palm empty fruit bunch hydrolysate for

1-lactic acid production by *Bacillus coagulans* JI12. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 83, 16-21.

- Ye, L., Zhou, X., Hudari, M. S. B., Li, Z., & Wu, J. C. (2013). Highly efficient production of L-lactic acid from xylose by newly isolated *Bacillus coagulans* C106. *Bioresource Technology*, 132, 38-44.
- Ylitervo, P., Franzén, C. J., & Taherzadeh, M. J. (2013). Impact of furfural on rapid ethanol production using a membrane bioreactor. *Energies*, 6(3), 1604-1617.
- Zacchi, G., & Axelsson, A. (1989). Economic evaluation of preconcentration in production of ethanol from dilute sugar solutions. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 34(2), 223-233.
- Zhang, C., Zhu, J., Gleisner, R., & Sessions, J. (2012). Fractionation of forest residues of Douglas-fir for fermentable sugar production by SPORL pretreatment. *BioEnergy Research*, 5(4), 978-988.
- Zhang, X., Ghamari, M., & Ratner, A. (2013). Numerical modeling of co-firing a light density biomass, oat (Avena sativa) hulls, and chunk coal in fluidized bed boiler. Biomass and Bioenergy, 56, 239-246.
- Zhang, Z., Harrison, M. D., Rackemann, D. W., Doherty, W. O., & O'Hara, I. M. (2016). Organosolv pretreatment of plant biomass for enhanced enzymatic saccharification. *Green Chemistry*, 18(2), 360-381.
- Zhao, X., Zhang, L., & Liu, D. (2012). Biomass recalcitrance. Part I: the chemical compositions and physical structures affecting the enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 6*(4), 465-482.
- Zhu, J. Y., Pan, X. J., Wang, G. S., & Gleisner, R. (2009). Sulfite pretreatment (SPORL) for robust enzymatic saccharification of spruce and red pine. *Bioresource Technology*, 100(8), 2411-2418.
- Zhuang, K., Bakshi, B. R., & Herrgård, M. J. (2013). Multi-scale modeling for sustainable chemical production. *Biotechnology Journal*, 8(9), 973-984.
- Zhuang, K. H., & Herrgård, M. J. (2015). Multi-scale exploration of the technical, economic, and environmental dimensions of bio-based chemical production. *Metabolic Engineering*, 31, 1-12.